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VITAE

ELIZABETH NORD

Born in 1902 in Lancashire, England, Elizabeth Nord came to
Rhode Island at the age of ten, and four years later went to work
in a Pawtuckett, Rhode Island text i le mil l . Her pro-labor family—
her father had been a coal miner in Britain and her mother a weaver—
were strong influences in her early life. One of her most vivid
memories is the reaction of her British aunt to the presence of
non-union workers in Rhode Island mills; in England all workers were
unionized. She learned to weave from her mother—a common practice in
the mill—and in the early thirties worked a 49-hour week, six nights
a week.

Nord was active in the YWCA industrial clubs in Rhode Island.
She attended many weekend conferences for young women workers, and
through that program spent the summers of 1923 and 1924 at the Bryn
Mawr Summer School for Women Workers, and, in the following summer,
at the Barnard School for Women Workers and Vineyard Shore School
for Women Workers (one year course, 1930). In 1928 she joined the
Textile Workers Union of America (TWUA) and six years later went
to work as a full-time organizer. During her long years as a
member of the TWUA, Nord has served as joint board manager and was
elected as an Executive Board Member of the national union. She
has only recently ret ired.

This interview, which focuses on Nord's early years, reveals
what it was like for a working family to live in New England during
the first decades of the 20th century. Nord also talks about her
experiences organizing in Virginia in 1935 where she encountered
hostile communities and employers.

Nord feels a great pride in her accomplishments as a union member,
as a working woman, and as a weaver. She believes that belonging
to the trade union movement allows one to develop a firm philosophy
and principles about the labor movement and to better one's under
standing of people's characters.
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NORD: When I first began working in the mills, I was fourteen
years old. We were in Pawtucket, and my first job was the Royal
Weaving Company as a quiller.

INTERVIEWER: Can you tell us what a quiller is?

NORD:

INTERVIEWER:

A quil ler is, a quil l ing machine is the machine that fil ls the
bobbins that are used in the shuttles on the loom. I worked there
until I was fifteen years old. Because at that time the law,
I think, didn't provide for children to work more than
eight hours a day. Now I'm not very clear on that. I
couldn't go to learn to weave with my mother,
I think, until I could work longer hours. Which meant that I
could go and "stand-in", as we called it, with her and learn to
weave. And my mother was working at the Lorraine Mill.

So there were other members of your family who were also working
at the mill at the same time?

NORD: My mother was working in the mill, yes. I had a brother who was
working in the Royal Weaving Company, and he was learning to do
mule spinning which was a rather skilled type of work. Well,
I learned to weave. My mother's mother also was a weaver in
Engla-.if1. Of course, I was born in England. And so how many
generations we were weavers beyond that I don't know. Probably
because I came from the cotton mill district in Lancaster.

So then I learned to weave at fifteen at the Lorraine Mill. And
I can't remember how long I stayed there— perhaps a year or more,
Then my mother thought it would be better for me to go and learn
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N O R D : t o w e a v e , t o b e a s i l k w e a v e r.

INTERVIEWER: Now, why was that?

NORD: Cleaner work. Si lk weavers earned more money. And, I guess
she had the foresight to see that in the long run, this was a
better kind of work. So I was very fortunate. I
went to work in a mill in Central Falls, and there I learned
silk weaving. The standards there were very high. So this was
rea l ly exce l lent ; th is was very good t ra in ing. Af ter I le f t
this shop— once you had worked
at this particular plant, Salembier and Clay, there was never
any problem about getting another job. Because the employers
in the city knew ... oh there were many si lk mil ls in the city
at that time back in Central Falls . . . knew that any one coming
from Salembier and Clay would really . . .

INTERVIEWER: What was different about them?

NORD: They wove a good qua l i t y s i l k fab r i c . And the i r qua l i t y s tandards
were very high. This, and that you could let~as we used to
say—very few imperfections go. As we used to say 'go . That,
means pass.

INTERVIEWER: Yes. Another thing, too. You said that
there was a difference between weaving in silk and in cotton. I
suppose it was cotton . . .

NORD: Wool.

INTERVIEWER: Woolen? Is that what you came from?

NORD: Wool . At the Lorra ine Mi l l .

INTERVIEWER: What is the distinction? What is the difference?

NORD: Well,I guess it would seem to be obvious. Wool is a heavier
fabric. If you have more imperfections in wool, they're not so
likely to show up in, you know, in the finished process as they
a r e i n s i l k . S i l k i s v e r y fi n e ,
some of it almost as fine as a hair. And in that time we used
to manufacture real ly fine, very beaut i ful k inds of
s i lk . But today you just . . .

INTERVIEWER: Can't find it.

NORD: "Can't hardly find any more," as some people say (laughter).
S o t h e n I s t a y e d i n s i l k w e a v i n g , o h , u n t i l 1 9 3 4 . N o w,
because I had joined the union in 1928.

INTERVIEWER: Oh, I see.
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NORD:

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

INTERIVEWER:

NORD:

You were interested in that.

Yes, I am. How did you get interested in the union?

Well, first of all, with my English background . . . you see,
my father was a coal miner. And my mother, of course, was a
weaver. And in those days, those early days . . . You see,
when my mother learned her trade, and she would go into the
factory—she might have been even younger than twelve years old—
but even then you worked half-time . . . but I think you had to
have your union card to even work half-time.

In other words, you're saying that unions were already strong
in England at the time your parents were working there.

Oh, yes. And the half-time meant that the youngster spent half
a day learning his trade, and the other half a day going
to school. Now, I don't know how long that went on, probably at
least a year. But an aunt emigrating to this country — I
stopped in to see her-- I'd been off at summer school . But
I stopped in to see her on the way home because I hadn't seen
her since I was a child. And we talked about the work I was
doing and the fact that some people didn't belong to the union
in the factory, maybe half of them wouldn't. And she remarked,
"Do you work with people who don't belong to the union?" She
was really surprised at, you know, this kind of [thing] that long
ago. "Do you work with people who don't belong to the union?"

So I worked until 1934 when the United Textile Workers asked
me if I would become, if I would go to work for the union. They
said they couldn't guarantee anything because—[as] I've explained to
you earlier—they were [in] very poor circumstances. And they couldn't
guarantee that I would have a permanent, well-paying job. I've
forgotten how much they paid me when I first started, but I
remember by 1935 I was getting twenty-five dollars a week. And
at one point the union was pretty nearly broke. T was working in
Maryland; Cumberland, Maryland. They asked me would I work two weeks
on and one week off. Where am I gonna go on my week off from Maryland
when I have no money? I can't go home to Rhode Island. The entire
staff of the union was put on this lay-off basis.

Well, so it was pretty rough going for the union in those years,
in my experience. From 1928 to 1934 and beyond, until I'd say
19 37 , th ings were rea l l y p re t ty rough financ ia l l y fo r the
organizat ion.

Well, prior to 1934— I had joined the union in 1928 and . . .
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INTERVIEWER: Can I ask you one question there? In 1928 was the union in the
plant where you were working?

N O R D : N o .

INTERVIEWER: Well, how did you get interested in the union, then?

N O R D : T h e r e h a d b e e n a s u g g e s t i o n , l a t e r c a r r i e d
out, that the loom load per weaver be increased in the factory.

INTERVIEWER: Sort of a stretch-out type thing.

NORD: Then someone must have gotten [ in] touch with the United Text i le
Workers, and a vice president of the organization,who was a very
effective organizer,came down from New Hampshire— Horace Revere.
And he — I'll never, never forget going out of the mill the night he
appeared I worked the second sh i f t . I was work
ing then six nights a week. We worked Saturday night.

INTERVIEWER: What time did you start? The second shift?

N O R D : S t a r t i n g t h r e e o ' c l o c k . T h r e e o ' c l o c k u n t i l e l e v e n . B u t
on Saturday night you worked until twelve o'clock,
. . .because the eleven o'clock shift couldn't come in. So you
made up the extra hour, so that was what? That was forty-nine
hours in a week. Right up the road here on Roosevelt Avenue. Well,
this was a very stormy night. I don't remember the time of year,
a very stormy night, and the wind was blowing and the rain was
coming down and there stood Horace Revere—and I didn't know
him—handing out leaf lets. And I thought, "My, my; . . " As
I recal l my thought was, "My, he means i t ! I t real ly takes . . . .
Gotta mean it, to be standing out in this kind of weather."
I didn't realize then that years later I'd be doing the same
thing myself.

Well, so then I was very impressed, and I joined the union. But
t h a t w a s n o t e f f e c t i v e a t a l l . I d o n ' t r e c a l l a n y
activity or anything permanent developing as a result of this
attempt.

INTERVIEWER: Why wasn't it effective?

N O R D : E x c e p t t h a t I j o i n e d t h e u n i o n . I d o n ' t r e c a l l , I d o n ' t k n o w ,
bu t peop le we ren ' t . . . I t h i nk i t was t he se t -up . I t h i nk t ha t
what happened was that the trick that's used in many, and when I say
trick [I mean] methods used,in many situations by employers: just
close down the plant. And when they're good and ready, they'll
open i t . So that you ' re out o f \ ork for two, three, four
or more months and, you know, there's no organization, and you
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N O R D : h a v e n ' t h a d a n o r g a n i z a t i o n , a n e f f e c t i v e o r g a n i z a t i o n .
So this is, as I recall, what happened. So then you go
back to work, amd your're on six looms instead of four.
I had a l i t t le piece that I wrote about that part icular
time and what it meant to have your work load increased
by fi f t y pe rcen t . I mean the phys i ca l s t ra i n .

INTERVIEWER: What did you do with that piece of material that you
wrote? Was that to be used as a part of the literature
that the union distributed to people?

NORD: No. This was something someone asked me to do some time
later for some, I think it was the Women's Bureau.

INTERVIEWER: Oh, I see.

NORD: Pe rhaps I cou ld make copy and send i t t o you i f I find
that I have i t .

INTERVIEWER: Could I ask you this question? 1934 was the time you '
became a full-time organizer for the union? Is this
true?

N O R D : 1 9 3 4 .

INTERVIEWER: What did you do in the union? What was the role you
palyed in the union between '28 and '34?

N O R D : We l l , I h a d j o i n e d t h e u n i o n t h e n , a n d o f c o u r s e , f o r
me it seemed a natural thing to do , regardless of
whether the union was effective or it wasn't, or was
growing or not growing. This, as I recall, didn't seem
to be the important thing. The important thing for me
was here was a union and I should belong to it. I
suppose because it seemed.. . . I can remember my father
be ing . on s t r i ke as a coa l m iner. Then there
was this always, never cr i t ical att i tude in our
home about unions. And I can remember the union used
to have a man who'd go about collecting the dues. This
was the old English system, where a man actually goes to
the homes of the members and collects the union dues.
Well, this man came to our house for years, I recall,
and collected my dues. I went to meetings and, of course,
these are some of the kinds of tl ings sometimes you say.
You sort of don't want to say seemingly critical sorts
of things. But I can remember going to the union
headquarters up here on Broad Street and sitiing on
the stairs at the meeting time and waiting for somebody
to come, and some nights nobody would come. I'd just
be s i t t ing there a l l by my l i t t le se l f .
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NORD: And then I pa r t i c ipa ted in the th ings tha t the un ion d id .
There would be a monthly meeting of the Rhode Island
Textile Council—where there were groups, loom-fixers
were organized, wool sorters were organized. I considered
weaving a skilled occupation. But the weavers never effective
ly organized, or the other trades. One or two other trades,
I think the slasher-tenders, the ones who prepare the warps for
the mill, and the twisters who twisted the warps into the looms,
there were, here and there, units of these occupations.

And so there would be an interesting meeting. And the vice
president, Francis Gorman, would come into the meetings. So
this was sort of education, so to speak, as to what was going on.

INTERVIEWER: Would he give you information about other parts of the country?
Or would it be mostly just in New England?

NORD: The whole organization, and trade unionism in general. The
loom-fixers, of course, had an effect ive organizat ion. I don' t
know how far back that went. They were fairly effective.

INTERVIEWER: They were a separate union. Is that true?

NORD: They were a craf t un ion, but wi th in the Uni ted Text i le Workers.

INTERVIEWER: I see. I see.

NORD: Part of them.

INTERVIEWER: Were the United Textile Workers connected with the AFL?

NORD: Yes. It was the old AF of L union. And I suppose you just hope
someday that... [we thought] the loom-fixers were effective, and
some of these other trades, and did bargain with the employer—
there were no written union contracts; they'd bargain with the
employer— that perhaps this could extend itself to other crafts
as wel l . So I part ic ipated in those things. Occasional ly there
were other kinds of mass meetings. Of course,
.they were the Depression years, and there would
be mass meetings about various things. Oh, I remember a mass
meeting about Mooney and Billings. Remember this
Sacramento, or San Francisco affair? And I helped with the col
lection. Well, the collection, the money came in nickels and
dimey and I had to count the money. And I counted some of the
nickels as dimes, and I reported the contribution amounted to
such and such a thing, and it was orly half that much. Oh,
I was so embarrassed. I never forgot that.
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N O R D : A n o t h e r i n t e r e s t i n g t h i n g d u r i n g t h a t t i m e , t o o . I ' d b e e n
selected as secretary to some group or other that was doing some
thing. I can't remember what.

INTERVIEWER: Do you remember the time of this, approximately?

NORD: Well, this is prior to, this is during the Depression years,
you see, 1.930, '31, '32.

INTERVIEWER: I see. Before Roosevelt comes into office.

NORD: Yes. Right. And I had been selected secretary to something or other-
I carf tremember what it was . . . But I arrived early at the
Carpenter's Hall, which was a dumpy little place in Providence.
And there,the business agent who was in and he was really a
fine person, held in really high regard as long as he lived,
and it's not too long ago that he died. "What you doin' with
this thing?" he said. He says, "Why don't ya get out?" He
says, "Ya know what's gonna happen to you." He says, "They'll
knock the pins right out from under you." I suppose being a
w o m a n . . . .

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

Yes, I want to ask you if there were any other women organizers.

No. But I never forgot that. And I said, "They're not gonna
knock the pins out from under me." I mean, this was my attitude,
and I don't think they ever did. But I thought that was really
something.

Was that a threat on his part? Or do you think he was being
sympathetic to you?

Oh, no. No! He was sympathetic. And they all, I think if
nothing else, they treated me just fine, al l
these old craft union gents. But I . never forgot that. "They' l l
knock the pins right out from under you." And I thought to myself,
"Nobody's gonna knock the pins out from under me." But I suppose
I didn't know what he was talking about at the time.

Did you learn what he meant later?

Yes. I th ink there's no quest ion. Except that I th ink there
will be very few times when actually this sort of thing happened
to me in the movement.

r INTERVIEWER: You don't feel there was much prejudice against you?

NORD: I think if you want to do something and are interested, you can
just do it. This has always been m> experience.
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INTERVIEWER: 1934 . . .

NORD: Then ' 33 , o f cou rse , t he re was a genera l s t r i ke i n t he s i l k ,
in my own industry.

INTERVIEWER: It 's interesting, because I've really concentrated on that strike
of 34 and didn't realize there was that much activity the year
before.

N O R D : We l l , ' 3 4 w a s p r e t t y g e n e r a l a l l t h r o u g h o u t t h e c o u n t r y.

INTERVIEWER: Right.

NORD: . . . ' 33 was the t ime when the Communis ts were mos t e f fec t i ve .
Because, you see, this was toward the end of the Depression
years, and they really worked hard in this area under the leader
ship of what's her name? You know her name—Christina?

INTERVIEWER: Ann Berlak.

N O R D : A n n B e r l a k . V e r y e f f e c t i v e .

INTERVIEWER: Where were the Communist unions? Where were they located primar
ily, as far as the industries were concerned? Did they
concentrate in particular areas? In what kinds of unions
were they?

NORD: I 'd say in the p laces where there was the most e ffec t ive organ i
zation. Of course, New York City had; we had [them] here in New
Jersey, in the s i lk indust ry.

INTERVIEWER: Right, right. Paterson and places of this sort.

N O R D : R i g h t . B e f o r e t h e y w e r e e f f e c t i v e h e r e . I t h i n k
perhaps here in the Blackstone Valley was the area of great
e s t a c t i v i t y.

INTERVIEWER: In all of New England?

NORD: Yes . Because , you know, we were a te r r i b l y impor tan t t ex t i l e
center. Oh, I can't remember how many silk mills there were in
this area.... Well, of course you know that texti les used to
be our major manufacturing industry.

INTERVIEWER: Right.

N O R D : A n d s i l k w a s v e r y i m p o r t a n t .

INTERVIEWER: Very important. What made the Communist unions so effective?
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NORD: Well . . . they had effective leadership, and Berlak was really
a very effective person. She could pick up the complaints and
the stories of the condit ions in the mil l and effectively . . .

INTERVIEWER: Articulate them.

NORD: Art iculate. Right. So that the people just in droves fol lowed
her. I can remember right up here on High Street, Pawtucket—
not on High Street, Fountain Street, Pawtucket— there used to
be a great block of houses there, at least three stories high
brick houses and [there] were two or three or more rows built around
a sort of courtyard. And I remember one night going there to
hear Ann Berlak speak. And this was really something. People
hanging out of their windows, and that square within the blocks
of houses was packed. And this was it. This was what the
situation needed. I mean, from the point of view of the workers,
and this was the kind of thing that needed to be done. Somebody
should have been raising hell about it. And my union was most
i n e f f e c t i v e .

INTERVIEWER: More concerned with the ideological conflict than whether they
were good organizers or not.

NORD: Right'.

INTERVIEWER: And you did give some consideration, at least personally, of
going with the Communist union for a while?

NORD: Of course, because here, you see, I was young. I recognized
what they were doing. These things were true. I don't suppose
a t t h e t i m e t h a t I p e r s o n a l l y w o u l d I c e r t a i n l y l e a r n e d
through that experience what the Communists thought that it was
al l about; that th is was a superficial sort of act iv i ty on their
part —to capital ize on the poor condit ions in the factories.
And the wages, of course, were awfully poor.

INTERVIEWER: Yes.

NORD:

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

I remember as a weaver earning something like fifteen, sixteen
dollars a week. But later, in '35 when the NRA came in, you
remember that the minimum wage was set at thirteen dollars a
week, and this applied to skilled workers in many parts of
the ;ountry at the time.

So did that reduce their wages over what it had been?

No. The minimum wage was set at $13 for the South and $12
for the $13 for the North arid $12 for the South.

INTERVIEWER: How eld were you at that time?
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NORD: In 1930 Well, I was born in 1902, so where does that bring to
in 1933?

INTERVIEWER: You'd be 31 years old then.

NORD: Right. Well, now where were we? Oh, we were in 1933. And tex
ti le workers, si lk workers, velvet workers,
were on str ike. I think this was a pretty general str ike through
out New Jersey, in the silk centers, which meant New Jersey and
the Blackstone Valley.

INTERVIEWER: I see.

NORD: I think we got a slight increase in wages. I can't remember what
the other grievances might have been then, except of course
there was still, the business of increasing work load. Then there
[were] general things throughout the texti le industry
all over the United States of increasing work loads, and this
was the cause of the strike in 1934.

INTERVIEWER: I know there was a big dispute over that question of wages and
working conditions both . . .

NORD:

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

Yes, it was in the main, it was—what do they call it?—the
stretch-out system.

R i g h t , r i g h t .

That was the reason.

And you were involved with the strike then in '34 also?

Yes, I think I went to work for the union in the spring
of '34. In the meantime, of course, the union was fairly effec
tively organized between '33 and '34 here. We had a weaver's
local union of about 3,000 members.

Just in the Blackstone Valley?

I'd say 3,000. I'd say there were 3,000 weavers. I'm not sure
that we had a union of 3,000 members. Speaking of the Communists-
again I can't remember the specific time
they actually were able to break the weavers union. And I went
through that experience in this area.

What do you mean, they were able to break it?

Well, you see, we went through the '33 strike, . .One of the
interesting things for people who lived through this experience
—such as myself—we had to do our own work. We had to do our own
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NORD: organizing. We had to do our own negotiating. We were the leaders,
And we would go off, I remember—I worked on the day shift—
we'd get through at 3:00, worked from 7:00 to 3:00 with no
time off for lunch, and three or four of us would go off. I
had a car at the time, and we'd go off to places around,
and went anywhere anybody wanted to organize, and we'd
organize. The union just didn't have the money, it didn't have
the people. We went out and did this sort of thing. But this
was a marvelous experience, you see, and then having to be respon
sible for helping to bring strikes to a proper conclusion or some
sort of conclusion. It was real, absolutely marvelous education
and training. Then,of course,since .. . I remember in 1933 . . .

INTERVIEWER: These activit ies that you just described are all things that
you did before you became a full-time employee in the union.

NORD:

INTERVIEWER:

Right.

You did your ful l-t ime job plus al l the organizing, plus al l
the negotiating over contracts and this sort of thing.

NORD: Right. And I remember when I said the only woman....
in '34, this was sti l l while I was in the factory—
the union had this big strilc. They had
to go to Washington, the executive board—there were four or
five members on the executive board of the national
union. And I had to go to Washington. Well, they needed a
woman. You know, so many women worked in that textile
industry, how could four men go to Washington and talk
about conditions in the textile industry which so many
women worked [in]? Well, Elizabeth was asked to go along. And this
was ... Of course,they wanted me there. But here again,
you see, to go through the process of being part of the strike
settlement and to learn to know these men and their approach
to the job and the work and the union, was really an education.

INTERVIEWER: And they didn't hold anything back. They just brought you
r i g h t i n . Yo u d i d n ' t f e e l a s t h o u g h y o u w e r e . . .

NORD: Right .
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INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

r

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

INTERVIEWER:

. . . being discriminated against in any way.

Not at all. Later what they had asked me to do, something we
tried to do, as a result of the strike of '34, [ i t ] was disastrous.
And that was in '34 while I was still in the shop.
We had conceived the idea that perhaps if we had some
sort of industrial union it might be more successful.

That's where the idea at first begins to take hold?

No.

No.

Nco. We thought if we had some form of industrial union within
our own unit here in Rhode Island— didn't know what was going
on any place else; there was enough going on here.

Right .

Well, some of us conceived the idea;perhaps if we became an
adjunct or a part of the loom-fixers . . .

The problem is you didn't have any formal organization by whicli
you could do that. Is that true? The loom-fixers was a . . .

No, sir. So we worked this out, but in working this out, I recall
when you say that the officers didn't hold
anything back. They took me into their confidence, or accepted
me as an equal and part of the group. I suppose they felt
that confident based on my experience and my . . .

Your willingness to do the hard jobs.

. . . The jobs I had been doing. I remember the president, the
then-president Mr. Tom McMann,telling me about . . . And I
told him I had gone to New Bedford to talk with the loom-fixer's
man there. I got no place, I got no place fast with this plan.
Oh, and the loom-fixer's man in New Bedford telling me, "No way.
Nothing's going to happen." And telling me about an agreement
he had with the president of the union that if he would pay
per capita tax on only so many members — which meant that he
could keep his membership at 200 or 300 and they even had 400 — he
didn't have to pay per capita tax on the additional members. And
he had a written agreement with the president of the union. Well
this—I suppose the union had been in such a bad way that the inter
national president had no choice but to accept this kind of agree
ment in this situation, with a man who is a very strong leader.

Why did you pick the loom-fixers as the group you were going
to try and build an industrial union on that base?
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NORD:

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

Because they were the most . . .

They were the most, they were the strongest?

They were established. They were the most effective. They were
doing very well. They negotiated — hey were seldom . . .
I think there was, in my memory, only one strike of the loom-
fi x e r s t h a t I r e c a l l .

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

Were they open to this idea?

We did it for a while. And part of the plan was that the loom-
fixers, who of course are responsible for repairing looms in
a given section —they had their section of looms —would collect
the union dues from the weavers, you see.

INTERVIEWER: Oh, I see.

NORD:

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

Well, we tried that for a while. I remember the
president of the union, Mr.McMahon saying to me, "Well, the
thing that you worked out, Elizabeth, we'll just
have to cal l i t off ." And he said that i t won't work. And
he said, "I think you know the reason why. And so you just have
to forget i t . " Wel l , I ins is ted that I wasn ' t go ing to forget
it. But,of course,as things worked out, there was no
question that he was right.

Now, why wouldn't it work?

Well, the loom-fixers were— I don't know about individuals-
seemed to be sympathetic to our idea of helping the weavers to
organize. But . . .

They had their own direction that they were . . .

And they had a business agent who worked full-time for them, paid
by out of the funds that they contributed to the union. The
business agent was just going to have no part of this kind
of an arrangement. I suppose he saw this was really a major . . .

Yes, a potent ia l conflict , real ly - - wasn' t i t? Or departure.

Not necessarily conflict. Conflict as far as he was concerned—
surely he didn't want any part of it. But he also saw that this
was a pretty big job. Well, let me see , for if you had three
thousand weavers in the city, you could divide that by something
like 24 and you'd have the number of— 24, 26, 30 —and you'd have
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NORD:

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

the number of loom-fixers there were. But no, it represented a
big job, far beyond, I suppose, my scope to understand the . . .

Imp l i ca t i ons o f i t a l l .

Implications and the involvement at the time.

Yes. Sure, I see that. You say that you really got involved
full t ime with the union in 1934. Does the National Industrial
Recovery Act have any effect upon sort of a growing militancy among
the laboring people?

Oh, yes. There's no question . . .

Do you see a change in the workers' attitudes once that comes in?
Does that accelerate the process of militancy?

Yes, yes. First of al l , just the whole idea of the National
Recovery Act itself was terribly important, something that
workers in general needed. I recal l that—this is par t t rue of
the whole country—that with the establishment of the National
Recovery Act, and I don't know what particular day, but I think
there were parades simultaneously around the whole country. We
had one big, grand parade down, right down here downtown. I remem
ber that. It just seemed as though everybody, the whole city
turned out, and was walking in the streets with
this wonderful thing that was happening after the years of the
Depression. Because [in regard to] the members in my family,
nobody had worked for more than a period of three or six months,
and so everybody was very happy. This was a whole new thing.
And then of course, certainly within the unions—because a
part of that was the declared policy of the United States. . .

INTERVIEWER: Right, for collective bargaining.

N O R D : . . . t o p r o t e c t w o r k i n g m e n ' s r i g h t s .

And of course,it really formed the basis upon which
grew these great organizations of today. The steel
workers, the automobile workers, and of course, re-establishing
the textile workers. So that was— oh, yes, no question— that
was the really great thing as far as the unions were concerned,
and I think that at the time, economically, as far as the country
was concerned.

INTERVIEWER: What did you do then, once you went full time with the union?
What was the job that you did?
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NORD:

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

r

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

INTERVIEWER:

As I recall, let me see, that was before the 1934 strike; must
have been in the spring. Did you mention the date ot the '34
s t r i ke?

It's in September, early September.

So that by September I was a full-fledged organizer. And that
was really something. That was really a bad time for the union.
I t was a t e r r i fi c s t r i ke . I t was na t i on -w ide . I ' ve f o rgo t t en
what proportion of the industry was out on strike.

I think it affected both the North and South,
involved.

All areas were

Right. Because in the South . . . Actually, there were so many
people arrested on picket lines that they had to put them in camps
behind barbed wire. This was really a pretty bad sort of thing. And
hundreds, thousands of workers were fired, I think—never got
their jobs back. I worked in Rhode Island for the first two weeks
of that s t r ike. And i t was real ly funny. I 've forgot ten whether
I did anything around here in Pawtucket or not, in this area.
But I recall working out in the valley down along
across into South county where, you know, there were mills
here and there. And I remember once, gosh, on my way to Westerly
and somebody said to stop at some place along the route route
3, I've forgot; I pass the spot sometimes now and remember it—
where the employer was out in the middle of the road with this
agreement that he would not break the strike. It was really
funny. He was frightened. Oh, there were sort of roaming pickets
who went around, and I forget . . .

Ah, ha. Flying squadrons.

Flying squadrons. Yes.

Right. Frank Sgambato was involved with some of those.

NORD:

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

He thought the flying squadron had come along, so he was out in
the middle of the road waving his agreement. He . . .

Oh, I see. He was worried about the flying squadron.

Sure. Right. Yes, well, there probably were more people besides
myseli.. There was a fairly effective agreement ending that strike,
but from the point of view of the workers who had expected more,
it really was a sad ending to this marvelous, extensive show of
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NORD: strength. Well, it was more than sort of a showing of strength;
there wasn't that aspect to it. Work loads had really been increased
tremendously so that jobs became pretty difficult in many places.
I recall, I think it was one of the Knight mills down in River
Point— you know, that great big stone mill right across from
the high school on the hill here? A tremendous, tremendous mill.
And that mill was not allowed to reopen after the strike because
they had extended . . . They said they could reopen only if
they were granted permission to extend the work load more than
they had done. But a work assignment board set up for the cotton
textile industry decided that they had gone just about as far
as they could go, and wouldn't allow them any further increases
in work loads. So this place closed down and never reopened.

INTERVIEWER: Never reopened.

NORD: But then any further requests for further extension of work loads
was to be made to these boards and they were to grant or not grant.

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

So it really gave some kind of control at the national level of
the th ing.

Yes. But,of course,the people were already working under work
loads they thought to be . . .

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

Right .

. . . excessive. There were a lot of other conditions, too.
Then there was the machinery set up for handling the discharges.

INTERVIEWER:
NORD:

I see.
And a very effective person was selected to head up that procedure.
I worked two weeks in Rhode Island, between here and Westerly,
and then I went into Washington. They needed a woman textile
worker in Washington with all the negotiations that were going
on to settle the strike. So off I went to Washington. That
was interesting to see this procedure. And somewhere along the
way I remember Sidney Hillman in a position—and you know who
Sidney Hillman was—and it seems to me that he became part of
the NRA administration.

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

INTERVIEWER:

Yes, the NRA.

Oh yes, '33.

That 's '33.
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NORD: R igh t . So he was in on the se t t l emen t o f t h i s . . .

INTERVIEWER: Strike of 1934.

NORD: . . . s t r i ke . I a lways remember h im say ing , "E l i zabe th , come here .
I want to talk to you." He meant as a textile worker rather than,
because he knew better than I knew what had happened to my union
and he knew the leadership. And, "What do you think about this
thing?" Well, you know, going through this sort of experience
and meeting with people such as this was really great.

INTERVIEWER: Very stimulating to you.

N O R D : O h , y e s .

INTERVIEWER: What did you do after '34 in the union here in Rhode Island?

N O R D : 1 9 3 4 . W e l l , fi r s t o f a l l , b y m e n t i o n i n g t h i s m a c h i n e r y s e t
up to handle the discharges, and I say that was really a sad
time. When I left Washington and the strike was over and the

* d i r e c t i v e h a d b e e n i s s u e d , t h e V i c e - P r e s i d e n t o f t h e u n i o n ,
▶ F r a n c i s G . G o r m a n , a s k e d m e , w o u l d I , o n r e t u r n i n g h o m e — I
» h a d m y c a r w i t h m e — w o u l d I g o t a k e a r o u n d - a b o u t r o u t e a n d

go through these places in Pennsylvania that had been on strike;
^ . . . d o t h i s a n d l e t h i m k n o w w h a t I h a d f o u n d . B y t h e

time I got home, I wantfed] no part of any of this thing any more.1 T h e r e w a s s o m a n y p e o p l e w h o h a d l o s t t h e i r j o b s , a n d h u n d r e d s
' o f p e o p l e i n v a r i o u s s i t u a t i o n s w h o h a d l o s t t h e i r j o b s .

[ w a y o u t , k n o w i n g t h e i n e f f e c t i v e n e s s o f m y o w n u n i o n , e v e nin spite of the fact that the union was growing. I couldn't
see that this thing would ever be resolved, and these people would
ever get back to work. Because, you see, this had happened in
places where there had been little or no union. And workers
had joined this movement in the strike.

INTERVIEWER: Had no protection.

NORD: And I just cal led Mr. Gorman when I got home, and I said, "Mr.
Gorman, I'm through. I'm not coming back. I can't take any
more." And, as a matter of fact, I don't recall if that was
the time that I left the union. Oh, no, I don't think it was.
No, it wasn't. I didn't leave. He convinced me to stay on. And
so we muddled through. And then, of course,in '35 the movement
of the CIO started. Well , they went first into the big industr ies.
I think they went first into steel . . .

INTERVIEWER: Steel.

N O R D : . . . a n d t h e n i n t o a u t o s .
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f

f

INTERVIEWER: Automobiles.

NORD: And so we had to wait . So I knew that this help was coming.
And I knew pretty much what would happen: that we would
get new leaders, and we would have effective leadership,
and we would have help.

INTERVIEWER: And when did that come?

NORD: I t d idn ' t come un t i l —I ' ve fo rgo t ten , was i t somewhere in 1937?

INTERVIEWER: I see. In 1937.

NORD: But I had qu i t ear ly tha t year because my un ion was s t i l l in
effective, and I just couldn't take anymore . . .

INTERVIEWER: What did you do when you quit? Did you go back to the mill?
Or did you join another union?

NORD: No. You see, I knew that C.I .O. was coming in, and there would
be a clean sweep. And I knew pretty much that [that was] what
was going to happen. But I couldn't take anymore. These are
the kind of things that brought on the sort of things that you
don't want to say.

INTERVIEWER: Yes.

N O R D : I w e n t t o w o r k i n — o h , I h a d a p e r i o d i n V i r g i n i a t h a t r e a l l y
was something. The exciting things that happen to you as
an organizer along in Virginia is really something.

INTERVIEWER: When was that? When was this?

NORD: That was in 1935. Because I had some experience in Washington.
I was assigned to be a legislative agent in Washington for the
union, and then the whole state of Virginia was mine.

INTERVIEWER: This was for the United Textile Workers?

N O R D : . . . a l l o f i t . I c o u l d d o
whatever [I] l iked in the whole state of Virginia. So what I
wanted to do and what the employers wanted to do were two
quite different things. That real ly was something. That was
some experience. But then the union had, in '35, they had
an t iquiry from Cumberland, Maryland, the great Celanese
Corporation. I don't know how many . . .

INTERVIEWER: That is a long ways west.

NORD: Oh , oh , f o r me ,yes . I t was ha l fway ac ross t he coun t r y. And
then, you know, we didn't have freeways.

INTERVIEWER: No, I know. That's up in the mountains, too, isn't it?
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NORD: Yes , su re i s . So we had an inqu i ry. Some workers wan ted to jo in
a union, and this place, 8,500 people working there. So I remem
ber Mr,McMahon and Mr. Gorman coming to me and saying, "You know,
we have this thing with western Maryland, and it sounds interest
ing." So they send me to Maryland accompanied by an
old trade unionist— I've forgotten what her name was— but this
was so I would be introduced properly to the trade unionists in
Cumberland, Maryland. So that was fine. She
got me established, all right. Then she left town, and I remember
going out into the country to find th is p lace. ( laughter) So I
drive out into the country and I come to the top of the hill,
and down there in the valley—my God!
about the Celanese Corporation, and I'l l never forget just stopping
my car on that hill and looking down on it. Elizabeth Nord and the
sixty mil l ion dollar Celanese Corporation. And it 's true, you know.
Now they're probably worth six . . .

INTERVIEWER: Hundreds of millions. Right.

N O R D : S i x h u n d r e d m i l l i o n , a b i l l i o n d o l l a r s . B u t E l i z a b e t h N o r d a n d
the sixty mill ion dollar Celanese . . .

INTERVIEWER: Were you able to have any effect on the situation?

NORD: Oh, that was a marve lous, that was a marve lous s i tuat ion! Oh,
absolutely! It was an organizer's dream!
Here was a ra i l road center, here was a min ing center. And
there were miners in that mill. And there were union railroad
men in that factory. And this was absolutely wonderful.

Well, the conditions were pretty, pretty bad. My union had
gone through . . . New Jersey, there was— what was the other
big rayon company at the t ime? I think they're st i l l in existence-
Well. However, there's another large one there. And the union,
in spite of the fact C.I.O. had not come in, had been able to
do a marvelous job on the hazardous conditions in the preparatory
department, so that the other rayon mill.... But the employers
wouldn't accept the fact that.... In Europe, you know, they had
been producing rayon for a long time, and the kinds of chemicals
used, carbon disulfide was one of the basic ingredients. And
this was really a poisonous substance, you know, and there had
been terrific hazards. And .men working in those departments had
gotten awfully sick, really, some where irreparable damage was
done phys i ca l l y. I t can s t i l l happen today, you know,
where there are accidents. But the industry in New Jersey wouldn't
accept the fact. You must know Dr. Alice Hamilton.

INTERVIEWER: I haven't met her.

NORD: . . . who was t he i ndus t r i a l med i c i ne spec ia l i s t a t Ha rva rd
U n i v e r s i t y u n t i l . . . . I d o n ' t k n o w i f s h e ' s s t i l l l i v i n g , o r
died a couple of years ago. Well, she worked.
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NORD: A couple of people who were rea l ly marvelous and d i rected
the work of the union there got Dr. Hamilton to come in and went
into the final meeting when the contract was worked out after
the organizing drive, and the company announced proudly that they
were going to spend a million dollars, and . . .

INTERVIEWER: Eliminate some of those hazards.

NORD: And what do you cal l the equipment that takes off the fumes?

INTERVIEWER: Exhaust.

N O R D : . . . a m i l l i o n d o l l a r s . A n d t h e y t h o u g h t t h i s w a s t h e
end-al l of their problems. And she said, "Wel l , you've made
a very good start."

Well, so in Cumberland, this was a real problem. And
the preparatory division—they were the first group to organize.
And we didn't get very far at first with the other department,
but as the organization drive became effective, then of course,
within a year the whole plant was organized. It was absolutely
wonderful. But with the help of.... But you see, there was a
strike. And when I say this was an organizer's dream—on the first
night of the strike I had stayed in Cumberland because the union
was calling, [saying] "You can't do this." And they were meeting
with the company in New York and discussing possible settlements,
and they didn't know a damn thing about it because nobody had
ever been out, you know; they didn't know what I was doing over
there in western Maryland.

Well, I remember I finally got out to the picket line. This was
something to see. Here were these men who were used to picket
lines, you know. They had this great area all set up, just as
neatly and nice as you could be. They had fires going in places
they had dug down into the ground. They had boilers set on the
grates over the fires with soup . . .

INTERVIEWER: Really?

N O R D : . . . a l r e a d y c o o k i n g . A n d o h , y o u d i d n ' t h a v e t o d o a n y t h i n g ,
just wait around and watch things happen. It was really great.
The strike was very effective, and the mine workers assisted in
that. The company, of course, put all sorts of obstacles in
t h e i r w a y , b u t t h a t s o n g s a y s , " W e ' l l r o l l i t o v e r t h e m . "
And certainly those workers rolled it right over the company. This
was just . . . Once they got this thing going it was
something. And from then on they've had a very effective union,
although today there aren't that many people who work there. The
company, of course,is a big company.

INTERVIEWER: Right.



NORD INTERVIEW 21.

NORD:

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

r INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

And they have numerous plants about the country, all of which,
I think, are organized today. But that was something to see.
One experience I had—you may be interested in—I'll never
forget . One th ing that made i t a l i t t le d i fficu l t was
the sh i f ts a l ternated.

Oh, I see.

You work one week days, one week nights . . .

Yes.

. . . one week afternoons. So that it was difficult to arrange
meetings and know which group was going to be at the meetings.
However, these men were very interested. So there would always
be somebody at [the] meetings. And then one night, no one came.
And I sat in the meeting hall. It was very strange; it 's
awfully strange. Nobody came and nobody came, so I went down—
I was on the third floor—and I went down to the doorway. There,
staring at me, were two: the chief and his assistant of the police
force in the plant. [gestur ing] Right there. And I knew them
by reputation. Of course, I'd seen them before. At the plant
they dressed in beautiful l ight blue uniforms. This is really
something. And here is McGraw and his assistant. And I looked
up the street and there the men are walking off down the road,
so I walked and followed them. I said, "They have no business
doing this. This is a basis for a complaint." And I said,
"Don' t let i t bother you." They said, " I t doesn' t bother us."
They said, "They'll go away and we'll be back up." They came
eventually back. There was a hotel across the street, and I
don't know whether these two men . . . Yes, they went over
and sat in the window of the hotel. However, the men finally
came up. When I was through with the meeting, I happened to meet
some of my miners organizer friends. They had headquarters in
the city for that area. And one man—I always remember his name
was Jip Dolphin—said, "When are you having your next meeting?"
"Well, it 's a week from tonight." And the next meeting night,
the week fol lowing, I couldn't get into the hall. The sidewalk
was filled with miners. There must have been at least a hundred.
And then I think the company police did show up. They went
across the street, and that night they did sit in the window [of
the hotel]. And then when we got safely into the hall, the
miners went over to the hotel and formed a picket line. And
they went in; in the door this way, came out the back door,
and around and around. And paraded until these guys just got up
and went away.

So where-.you have an effective miner's organization, of course, you
j u s t . . .

. . . real ly support ive.

. . . I j us t , I was a lone .
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INTERVIEWER: This is Judy Smith and Christina Simmons on July 12, 1976 inter
viewing Elizabeth Nord of Providence, Rhode Island with the
project on Twentieth Century Trade Union Women.

If you were living your life over again, what would you do
d i f f e r e n t ?

NORD: Who knows? You know, you could ask this of anyone. Would you
rather be doing something else than you're doing now? Why ask
it of a worker, for instance? You know, why ask it in this
part icular context? I know that however you treat this i t wi l l
be a complex question. I was. . . at the time that I was working,
I went to high school one year—mornings—when I was working nights.
I loved biology. Had biology, l i terature, I remember. I went as
a special student to the school of design while I was working in
my job as manager of the joint board. And this was a real grind
but I loved that. Mathematics. I just would, you know, all Sunday
afternoon I would be at [it] . I would have mainly homework. I just
loved that. . . I wasn't aiming toward anything other than what I
was doing. It was part of the, you know, I did this for my work
in the union. In the text i le calculat ions, you know, i t was just
one of the rudiments of actually manufacturing a piece of cloth.
How many yards of yarn in a particular size does it take to make
a yard of cloth, and this sort of thing. That [was] the mechanics.
Bu t s t i l l I t h ink th i s i s . . . .Bu t I t h ink i t ' s pe rhaps l og i ca l f o r
people, [it's] just a sort of a question we ask out of our expei-
ience. For instance, I notice you have a New York Times. If
you have the book review of yesterday, here again is a chap [who]
has done research—I've forgotten what the industry is—about
attitudes of workers on the job. And again, you know, there was a
big deal thing not so long ago, a study of this sort, about attitudes

1
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NORD:

INTERVIEWER:

of workers and taking their gripes as a real, proper indication of
the fact that they are not happy or satisfied. And this is not true,
I don't think. Never was true with me. I loved my weaving and knock-
int the old looms around! I never expected to leave it.

You notice that there's a lot of that stuff done, like on auto
mobiles, or l ike in heavy industry. In these jobs, l ike on a l ine,
welding over your head, or something like that. Working at that kind
of pace. I figure that might be d i f ferent .

NORD:

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

INTERVIEWER:

Somebody's got to do the work.

Right. I do think [ though] i t 's real ly hard and real ly wearing.

Anything's hard. Weaving is hard work. When you come out of a
weaving room—well, I remember when I was fifteen years old and
I wanted to learn to play tennis, and I went to the YWCA. I
couldn't hold a racquet after eight hours steady in the weave
room. Some people think that because some tasks are menial, if
you're doing a menial task, you don't have the integrity to
ask yourself that question, or to want to go anywhere else. But
you would have a semi-skilled or a skilled job and you've got
something. You spend a lot of time learning to weave. You've
got to spend a lot of time doing sort of apprenticeships in
your own work. You don't have to stay there if you don't want to.
However, you know, this question gets my goat.

Yes.

I don't have much patience with it. Well, do you want to talk
some more about that? Or, i t really isn't relevant.

Why don't we start in the family background part [referring to
guidel ine quest ions].

Why do you do this? I mean, why do you—what's this got to do
with this? Is this trying to analyze why I did what I did?

I t h i nk i t ' s t r y i ng t o fi l l i n , i t ' s a d i f f e ren t way o f t h i nk ing
about h is to ry. I ' ve taugh t fami ly h is to ry. What I th ink o f i t
as, as a college course, is a way that I get students to under-
stant that their own lives are history, and the pressures that
happen to their own family and the way that their family, the way
that they grew up are rooted in the world in some way; that
they are affected by forces that other people aren't. You knov,
that history doesn't just happen to great men and great women,
but that i t 's something about dai ly l i fe . And I th ink that th is
s tu f f i s rea l l y h i s to r i ca l l y i n te res t i ng , j us t t r y i ng to rec rea te .
I t 's not any psycholog ica l reduct ion ism, a t a l l . I t ' s jus t t ry ing
to sort of recreate what i t was l ike, I think. The only chi ld
hoods we know about are like of president's wives or people
that are really famous who thought their childhoods were really
worth telling about. We want to know about the way the other
people grew up.
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f NORD: Well, let's see what you've got there [looking at guideline ques
tions]. Do you remember your grandparents? No, I don't remember
my mother talking about her parents. Her mother died quite
young. And her father, my grandfather, l ived to—oh, I really
don't remember because we came away from England in 1912. He
was sti l l l iving then, and probably l ived at least six or eight
years beyond that. No, I don't remember my mother talking about
her parents. My father, his mother died quite young, too. He
was a l i t t le boy, he sa id , " in pet t i coats . " L i t t le boys in
England used to wear petticoats and dresses until they were
three or four years old. And he said he was a little boy in
petticoats. He remembers one time in his later years and it's
not too very long ago. He said, "You know," he said, "I don't
think my mother ever loved me." Now what he meant by that was
"cuddled" him. This is what the English mean. You know, "let
me love you" means "to cuddle." He said, "You know, I don't
remember my mother ever loving me."

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

Yes.

That, perhaps, because he was too young. And he talked about
seeing his father going off to sea. His father was in the what
they call the Merchant Service in England. Going off to sea in
his oil slickers and with his—what do you call that big bag
they carry there on their back?

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

A duffle bag?

Duffle bag over his shoulder, and would pick him up on the side
walk in the docks, you know, saying goodbye. And he talked about
teachers; he loved his school. And he went to what they call an
industrial school which actually was an orphanage. And he talked
a lot about that.

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

Is that where he lived?

Well, the father—the mother died while the father was off at
sea—and the father's work, then, they used to go off six months
or more of the year. So the children had to be cared for and
they were sent to the industrial home. But the practice then
was when the children got old enough—I think from eleven, twelve,
and thirteen—they were farmed out to places to work: in the
mines and the textile mills. I don't think he remembered exactly
how old he was when he went off, and he talked about this, going
out of school. But he loved his school. And he was in the
choir: he had a good voice. He loved it, and he remembered hit-
teachers. And one in particular wore a long, voluminous skirt
and a long pocket. And she would put her hand in the pocket and
pull out a stick of rhubarb. And he remembered that for years;
h e t a l k e d o f i t a l l h i s l i f e , I t h i n k . Ta l k i n g a b o u t h i s
teacher who kept this stick of rhubarb for her lunch in her
skir t pocket, that sort of thing. I of ten wish I 'd kept a note
book, you know, a journal of these things because I think they're
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NORD: a l i t t le... .Those times were interesting. Oh, they
talked about going to—I don't know when this
would be; I rather think it would be before he started to work,
when he was young. But I can't see him going out of an orphan
age and doing this—going to the places, the stables where the
horses were kept, and stealing turnips. The horses were fed
turnips, but they like to, you know, take turnips.

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

How did he get from textiles to the mines?

Oh, well, the mines and the textile mills were in the mining
district. And he went into the mines. And, you see, the girls
would be put to working in the textile mills, and the boys
were put to work in the mines in that area. This was Liverpool
where he lived, he was born, you see. So they were sent out to
the manufacturing towns of....My uncle, his brother was
a couple of years older, at least. He had more sense. I
think I told you this story before. He ran off to sea and
sailed on those beautiful ships, such as the Indefatigable.
I wrote to the New Yorker magazine last week because I
remembered a story they wrote there—I don't know, it was one or
two sections; it must be about twenty years ago—about the English
training ships. They were famous names like the Indefatigable
and the Trafalgar. And my father said, "Your uncle Charlie
trained and sailed on these ships." And as a matter of fact,
in the First World War, he went back to training cadets on the
sailing ships. And I don't know why they did this in the war
effort, but he did. And he finally became a pilot on the
Mersey if you know what that means. It means bringing the
ocean l iners into port in Liverpool . So
this was a sort of very happy ending, so to speak, to his
escapade. I wrote them asking if they had reprints of that
because my nephews now who would be my—what would they be?—
my grand nephews, you know, the one particularly
who is interested in sai l ing.

Well, when did your father start working in the mines?

I'd say he probably was twelve years old. He was born in Liverpool
and then was brought to....And I don't think they were kept
together as families. Certainly he was not kept together with
his sisters. He was placed with, with a family, and the family
was given the wages. And then they provided for the boy as
theught he were their own. And sometimes it was a very happy
situation, sometimes it was not. He talked about that, too;
about places where he had to work very hard at home after work.

INTERVIEWER: Did he l ive in di fferent fami l ies?
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NORD:

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

Yes, and I don't know why that would happen. There were,
during his time until he got married, as I recall, some
thing l ike three famil ies, perhaps. But one—oh, one family—
I guess they must have had a very nice garden because he went
to, on his half-day off on Saturday, he had to take the cart
and horse and with plants and flowers [go] to the market.
And he learned a great deal about flowers and growing things,
you know. So this was very nice. The thing that distressed
him was that he never had the brains to take a penny or two
from the money that he got for selling the flowers to buy
his lunch. And then it would be late when he got home and
the people would be busy. I think those people also had a
pub, some sort of pub. Because they would be so busy that
he wouldn't get any supper. And this, perhaps, was not
probably accurate, but this was the things that he remembered:
that he was very faithful and did his job and didn't get proper
treatment. Then there was another family he lived with whom
I remember, and they must have been younger people because the
man wasn't very much older than my father. But he liked
[them] very much. And he was. . .

And you knew them?

Slightly, yes, I knew who they were. And he was happy there.

Where was his town?

This was in a place called Churchkirk, Lancashire.

Right. That's where you were born?

I say Church for short. Yes, that's where I was born.

Is that where he met your mother? Did she live there?

Right. Now, and then the sisters were put with another
family and they didn't talk much about that. One sister
died quite young—consumption. And they both learned to
be textile workers. They were put in there. Now this was
my father 's fami ly.

Right. Now your mother, did she start in the texti le mil ls
young also?

The only thing I know about that is my mother's mother died
cxite young. Her father l ived probably until 1920 or
longer.

INTERVIEWER: Who took care of her when her mother died?
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NORD:

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

Well, she probably—when I say the mother died quite young, I
would think the girls probably, by that time, [were] working.
And there were three other sisters, and older ones.

So they stayed together in the home?

Yes.

With her father?

With the father.

What did he do?

He was a blacksmith. I think in a, probably in a texti le mill.
I meant to bring you a picture of him. Standing with several
other blacksmiths, a big sledge hammer in his hand. I've got it.
He was a blacksmith, or worked in the blacksmith shop. And on
the back of the picture it says such-and-such a family—don't
know whether they were all members of one family or not. Nov;,
[referring to guideline questions] mother—where was she
born? She was born in Churchkirk. No, this is wrong. I don't
know that this is important to the narrative. She was born in
a place called Oswaldtwistle, (chuckles) which is next, the
next town to Church. How do you spell "Twistle"? [Referring
to questions] Did she work outside of the home as a child?
Does that mean . . .

Did she work in the mills?

Yes, of course! As a young woman, sure, she worked until I was
sixteen years old. She worked until she taught me to weave.
I could not weave until I was fifteen, because I couldn't work
for ty-e ight hours unt i l I was fif teen,
hildren under fifteen could only work forty hours a week. How

about that? [Referring to questions] What chores did she do
around the house as a child? Now that—somebody had to do
it; I suppose they did.

Were there all girls in her family?

Yes, No boys.

Now, how did she meet your father?

Well, I don't know. It was a small town, and I suppose, oh, the
big things, the big things then were church and Sunday School.
And unions. I remember I—did I tell you the story about an
aunt who came to this country much later than we? And I had
been to, you know, summer schools and learned some radi
cal songs, and I've forgotten what. Oh Aunt used to love. . .
[to] sing. And [once] I sang the—oh I've forgotten what
the words were—to a hymn, a tune: the Internationale. I sang out
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NORD:

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

[in voice mimicking her aunt] "Oh," she said, "we used to sing
that in Socialist Sunday School." I thought I might shock her
with the new words to the hymn. [laughter]

[mimicking aunt] "Oh, we used to sing that in Socialist Sunday
School," said she.

So this is why I'm in the labor movement! But that was
rea l ly funny; I never forgot that . [Refer r ing to quest ions]
What did you like to do with your mother? What did you do with
your mother except do your chores at home and go to work? What
do you like to do with your father? The same thing. . . They
had to learn how to do the laundry, and washing, and make the
bread. You couldn't go out to the store and buy a loaf of
bread. You had to, somebody had to make the bread.

Did your father do any of those chores or. . .

Oh, yes. Yes, he was a cook. I never had to cook as long as my
mother and my father lived.

He cooked as well as she?

Oh, he was a marvelous cook. He was really good.

Did he cook. . .

He cooked pies, and roasted the meat on Sunday, and custards and
head cheese, and pie crusts, and he cooked, period.

Did he ever do the laundry?

Well, no; never was necessary as long as we....In England,
when we were children, of course. But not in this country.

Where did you—did you take it out in this country?

I suppose. . . Of course what happened was you sent your laundry
to the wet wash. And you had a big bag of laundry. I can remember
at fourteen I used to have to run home from the mill at noon
'cause my mother—my father worked quite some distance away;
my mother worked quite some distance away. And I ran home from
the Royal Weaving Company in Pawtucket to hang out the laundry
at noontime, so it would be ready at night to be ironed.

What was the wet wash?

Your laundry!
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NORD:

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

INTERVIEWER:

Your bag of laundry would be sent to the laundry and it would
come back and it was wet, ready to hang. You hang it on the
l ine . [ I t was ] washed, you know; bu t i t wasn ' t d ry.

R i g h t . I s e e .

The wet wash, yes. Just like today you can go, you can go to a
coin laundry. Well, that was a wet wash, but it was delivered—
picked up and delivered.

Picked up and delivered?

Yes, and it probably didn't cost very much. I remember somewhere
about fifty cents, but a big bag of laundry.

Did you ever bring your father or your mother their lunch at
work? Or their dinner at work before you worked in the mills?

It was too far away. I used to carry it in, as they said, to
the machine shop before I started to work.

As a job?

f
NORD:

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

You go from school. You would have a little cart, and the mother
would put up six or eight and in one of those little buckets
was coffee or tea,with hot dinner, and pie in the top and the
cover on, and you'd trundle them all the way to the.... I 've
forgotten. You probably got twenty-five cents a week.

Was it people you knew?

They would be people you know. You see, it's—for instance, if
today you want someone to do an errand for you, you get some child
of someone you know, and you'd probably get,
try to make a quarter. It only cost a nickel to go to the movies
then.

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

Did you go to the movies a lot?

I d-ri't recall it. The big deal thing for us, when we were
you.-.g, on Saturday afternoon, everybody
would be dressed in their best clothes, and we would go down
town Pawtucket to a movie. And with my mother and father we
would walk home—and there was a marvelous store on the corner
of Roosevelt Avenue and the street that runs down by the armory
into Pawtucket— carrying these ice cream cones. This was wonderful
stuff, carrying these chocolate bits home and
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NORD:

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

strawberry ice cream cones, and we would all walk up the hill
and we lived off Broadway in Pawtucket then. But then my
Dad would stop in a bar room and have a beer. Then, he caught
up with us. And it was a big thing, it was a big thing.

The whole family went together?

Yes.

Every Saturday night?

The afternoon. Now, where are we now?

Well, what did your mother do?

What did she do? Well, what does anyone do, you work forty-eight
hours and part of the time, fifty-four hours a week and you have
to come home, and you have to do your shopping and take care of
a family. She did this until she was, let me see, until I was
sixteen years old.

Now she was also a weaver, is that right?

Right. And I was a weaver. Her mother taught her to weave, and
she taught me to weave; and how far back that goes, I don't know.

Miss Nord, how many children were there in your family?

I had two brothers, no sisters. One older brother and a younger
brother. Now you know, [referring to guideline questions] these
are here again such stupid questions. Was she working at any
time when you were growing up? To ask somebody who was in the
labor movement or somebody who worked in the factory, ask where
your mother was. Well, your mother worked in the factory.
You know, it was a working class family. Unless you were most
unusual. Then if you were most unusual, you didn't. Then what
were you doing there?

But do you think that there were any people where mothers didn't
work even after they had children? Women didn't work, but maybe
they worked up until they had children or something? I think that
may be what they're getting at. Or in your experience, did all
mothers work?

No doubt there were some. Perhaps in textiles. You see, yoj're
ta lk ing about a par t icu lar fie ld , too. Text i les is a p lace
where these women continued to work. As long as I had any
association with textiles, married women worked, you know,
and stayed at their jobs in the texti le mil ls.
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INTERVIEWER: They would leave when their children were born, and then come
back?

NORD: Well, I was—perhaps. I don't know. I can't recall so much
in later years, but I was practically born in the weave room.
My mother talked about ... I mean, she'd probably leave
off about one or two weeks before her children were born,
[then]she'd be back a couple of weeks after. You know, this is
what happened in those days. Now within the recent past, thirty
years, we've been getting in our union contracts—maternity leave.

As much as six months, and extend it if there's a need to. But
one of the big factories we organized in Olneyville, a very large
factory, the Atlantic Woolen mill, the women were required to,
when they had children they were required to leave the job;
[then] they lost their jobs. And this is one of the reasons the
women really got very angry. They had a union, but this particular
union didn't think it important, I think, to give the women pro
tection under those circumstances.

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

When was this?

And this was in 1940—'42! And they lost their job when they
left because, you know, they were having children. Then if they
went back, they went back as a new employee. And this
was a real gripe, and it was one of the things which made the
union workers turn over from the union they had then in the shop to
our union. And this really was, this was a pretty bad condition.

But then, in your experience, it was the same in England and in
the U.S.—the fact that mothers worked?

Oh, I think there's no question in England, sure. My aunt, I
don't know how long my aunt—my aunt and her daughters who lived
in England—I can't remember the year, as they came quite
a time after we came to this country.

And you came in what year?

I, we came in 1912. Aunt probably came ten or more years later.
And she had three daughters and a son—all worked in textiles
and as far as I know, she had to continue to work, too.

Ms. Nord, how did they take care of small infants? How did your
mother take care of you?

Oh, we had babies classes. You went to baby school. Sure, they
had better child care then, I think. Well, they had to have two
things. There was baby school, which, you know, which was kin
dergarten, sort of .
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INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

r
INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

INTERVIEWER:

Nursery school?

Nursery school, part of kindergarten. And then you had, women
in the neighborhood nursed, they call it, children . . .

They took in?

Took in children, yes. Just as there's a lot of talk today about
having this kind of arrangement—have women in the neighborhood
take care of children while mothers are working. This was done.
And that's an interesting thing, too. My mother, and my father
particularly, would talk about a couple of people who nursed us
as children. You know, "Mrs. so-and-so who nursed you, would do
thus and so". . . said she'd give me a cold bath every morning.
I said she would give my brother the cold bath, too. But she
was a nurse. But they would talk about these
women who took care of children, because this must
have been a great source of contentment to have people
who loved your children, and who took care of them. And then such
women also would sometimes do baking for a working family, too;
bake the bread.

Did anyone ever bake, did you have your bread baked, or did you
do it yourself?

I don't really know, but I expect that my family did.

Did it yourselves?

They would have someone bake the bread, do the baking.
I love to go on about all those things. But that's not relevant
to t h i s .

What is it?

Things that you would eat, the things that you're eating on baking
day. You had cheese and onions for yourself or with those big
English muffins, not the kind you buy in the store today. Love
to talk about that.

Say i t !

On wash days, you would have a broth. A broth would be like a, it
is in a great big kettle of like a beef stew, except that it
would have all sorts of things in it. It would have red cabbage
and it would have curly cabbage—you know, the lovely savoy
cabbage—and dumplings with raisins. And this could all be cook
ing, you know, while the washing was being done.

In other words, it went by what kind of work had to be done that
day so what was easy to cook along with that?
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f
NORD: Right. And then the next day was baking day. I don't know

whether it was Tuesday or Wednesday, but that was the day you
had cheese and onions. You boil up the, you mince the onions,
and then you pour off most of the gravy. Then you put in milk
and butter and cheese and bake it in the oven. And then you
have with it, you see, you'd use bread dough and make muffins
about this big [gesture]. And then you made lovely crusty thins,
and that was your dinner on baking night. And that was really
great. And the aroma . . . of it.

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

It sounds great!

The cheese and onions is just. My mother used to occasionally
do those things when I was working. Sometimes I would
get off the streetcar, and run all the way home, you know,
in anticipation of what I was going to have for supper.
[This was] when she was no longer working. And this was, I
remember, from our early years in England. [Looking at
guidel ine quest ions] Wel l , we're not gett ing very far.

INTERVIEWER: All right. What did your mother hope that you would be?
She wanted you to be a weaver. Is that true, or did she have
any other idea?

NORD: There was no question. I suppose this was an English holdover.
You know.

INTERVIEWER: I remember you told us that she thought you should be trained
as a silk weaver.

NORD:

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

Right .

And that that was her way of. . .

. . . improving. .
a l i t t l e h i g h e r.

. cleaner work, and where the wages were

INTERVIEWER: And who taught you to be a silk weaver—was it someone you
knew?

NORD: Yes, someone who I think, an acqu lintance of the cousins
who had also gone into this, made this change-over, yes.
This is the way you helped out. Then later on someone
would ask you, would you teach her daughter or her sister
or . . . Then you would take [her] on.
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INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

Did you ever do that?

Yes, I think everyone somewhere along the way in our trade
would do this.

How much school did your mother have?

Well, as much as you can get in. I think she must have left
school when she was eleven or twelve and not any older than twelve.
And the system then—I think I explained to you earlier—was that
these young ones would go to work a half a day. They would
work half time, and go to school half a day. The half time
meant that they were learning their trade. And they were in training,
you see, as weavers. [referr ing to guidel ine questions] Did
she take an interest in community? In politics? What were her
v iews? Wel l , th is is in terest ing. You know, in England, I don ' t
know i f they st i l l do i t today; I th ink they do. I f you're a
Tory or a liberal, you wear your colors! I suppose it's where'
you get the phrase "showing your colors," you know. Well, the
Tory colors were yellow and orange. And liberal colors were
red and green. Oh, I was a Tory because I thought the yellow
and orange were absolutely beautiful. You would wear a thick
rosette, you know. And also you put a flag out your window.
There was no question about what you were, you see. So I can
remember the flag out the window. . . It couldn't have been
orange and yellow—orange and blue. I think we probably would
have been liberal. This I recall, but I don't remember any
talk or conversations. This pretty rosette was the thing that
I remember and, I don't know, I have a vague recollection of
wearing this orange and blue rosette.

Was your mother in the union?

Oh, of course! My aunt, when she came to this country—I think
I've told you that story, too—about trying to get a group of
workers in the factory into the union who didn't belong. The
workers, half were in and half out. "Do you work with people
who don't belong to the unions," said she. She's been in
America a week and so you feel like you're a hundred years behind
already. "Work with people who don't belong to the unions?"

Besides belonging, did your mother do anything active in the
organization?

No, rot that I know of.

She'd weave in both England and the United States?

Yes.
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INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

Was there a need? She could have done it?

I don't think in the sense that . . . [It was] quite
a different sort of situation than you had in
England, even today. You've really got to work awful hard to
build the union and get people into the union, you know. I don't
know i f th is is st i l l t rue. I don' t th ink i t was too long ago
that in England, there was a joint commission of union people, I
think, appointed by the government and employers. I'm not sure
what the set up was, whether it was government sponsored or
employer sponsored; a commission of union people and employers,
whose work it was to try to educate employers and workers who
are not unionized to the benefits of unionization. Saying, you
know, that you have less industrial strife, that you had a better
understanding of common problems. This is an interesting sort
of thing for—I can't think of the thing that was government
sponsored—but very interest ing. There's nothing l ike
this today where you had the right to work committee.

And what were they doing last week? Well they never shut up. It's
the Manufacturer's Association raising bloody murder about unions.
There's a constant struggle. I mean, so many people make you
think that all these unions are organized for the purpose of some
thing detr imental to you rather than, than beneficial. So there's
a completely different atmosphere. But no, my parents, no, they
were not and that's a long, long time ago and they were not in
pol i t ics. And of course,you had a di fferent s i tuat ion in pol i
tics I think in England [than] you have today. You ask sometimes
what somebody might have done. I sometimes think: I think I might
have been happier in England with the attitudes what they are
about unions and about politics than, than I am in this country.
You know, your constant fight to be accepted, so to speak.

I t 's just a real ly hard struggle here. . . .

Yes. .

Al l the t ime.

Right .

Did your father work in textiles also in America?

No, he didn't. We moved from this little place; he worked in the
mines from the time he was twelve years old until we moved. We
moved to a place where I could, my mother thought she could get
a better job in a—It was ten or twelve or fifteen miles away from
Churchkirk. And my father then went to work in the textile mills
up in the maintenance department. And then when we came to this
country, he went to work in machine shops. And then
he also worked for the Pawtucket water department . And
that's probably why he lived so long, you know, heaving the shovel
and the pick ax. And I think he really loved to
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NORD:

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

do it. Speaking of people's att i tudes about their work,
you know, he loved to talk about it. Driving around
Pawtucket and he would say [mimicking] "I remember the
job on this street, I remember the job on that street,
I remem. . ." And in winter, you know, in the middle of
the night there'd be a pipeburst and: [mimicking] "Here
was where the pipe burst in December." And then he would
talk about how he would talk about how he would prepare
his work. He would say, you know, "Some of the new guys,"
he said, "[they] would get down in the hole and start
shoveling!" He said, "I would stand and survey the
situation, see which way the sun was shining, and where
it was going to be shining in the afternoon." And he'd
select his place to work. But you know, this is real
sc ien t i fic s tu f f ; th i s was ve ry in te res t ing . I though t
that was something.

How did your family make the decision to come to America?

I think I told you that story, too. I had an aunt . . .
My mother's younger sister came to this country. And I
don't know what attracted them to come here. They had had
a child; they lost a child, and never had any other children.
And they came to this country. One of the things that
they didn't like was summertime when it was so hot, and
how uncomfortable it was in the factories, you know? My
uncle worked in a machine shop, my aunt went to weave in
a cotton mi l l . But she st i l l insisted that she thought
it would be better for my mother to come to this country—
I don't know whether she urged the other aunt with children
or not—and that it might be a better place for all of us
to grow up in.

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

Did she come to Pawtucket?

She had come here previously, yes.
She had come to this country.

That was in 1912.

INTERVIEWER: Do you want to talk a little about the neighborhood that
you were born in? How many years did you live in the house
in which you were born?

NORD: How many years did you live in thu house where you were born?
I, until I was about three years old, I think . . . and then
we moved to the town near Preston. It was a row house.
You know, like the English row houses with
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f NORD:

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

INTERVIEWER:

a l i t t le f ron t garden. Wi th the
john down the path, as we would say.
it was just . . .

And the neighborhood,

Were there all textile workers and coal miners in the neighborhood?

Right. Even today when I visit my friend on the West Coast, [she
asks] "Don't you remember so-and-so who lived on such-and-such a
s t ree t? " I d i dn ' t l i ve i n t h i s pa r t i cu la r p lace tha t l ong . Th i s
friend in Oregon lived there a great many years longer than my
family. And I say, "Both of you forget I left there when I was
three years old." But they were the nicest old associations . . .
the really pleasant sorts of things you did in that day. Then of
course, we moved away. But the happy times then were when we would
go back to this neighborhood. Or my cousins would come to
the place where we lived. Then this was the nice thing. Sometimes
they would walk miles and miles and miles. And then, of course,
when they would get there, we would go off and ramble into the
country. This was a big thing, you know. Many pleasant things.
And holiday times were pleasant—big, you know, big family get-
t oge the r [ s ] .

It had a garden in the front?

Yes, and row houses, smaller than I envisioned them. In '68
I went back to the place near Preston. And oh, it seemed large,
you know? There was a kitchen, and a front room and two bedrooms
upstairs, and that was four rooms. And, of course, in my child's
mind's eye it was a big house. But it was rather small.

How did it compare with the neighborhood you lived in, in Pawtucket?

Oh, Pawtucket. The first house we lived in was a little cottage.
I don't know whether it was because [it was] the only thing my
fami ly cou ld fi rs t a f fo rd .

Was it a single family?

A l i t t le cottage. A very small cottage, and then
we later moved to a five-room house. And then a six-room house,
then later bought what I thought was a very nice house, a cottage,
toward the end of Benefit Street in Pawtucket. You know that
area. Toward the end of Benefit in Pawtucket, near the Massachu
setts line. Not far from Baker's Corner. You know where Baker's
Corner is. But this was very nice, and it was then partly country.

Did the neighborhoods you lived in, in Pawtucket, also have
friends nearby?

Friends? You mean . . .

Family.
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NORD:

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

Well, then you were farther away from, for instance, my
cousins and my aunt . . .

You didn't . . .

That's family. We weren't that close but we were often
together.

You mean Sundays.

Right. Oh, yes, and my aunt just . . . every Sunday afternoon
at my house she came to play dominoes! Did you ever play
dominoes?

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

Yes.

And she used to carry a couple of extra dominoes in her handbag
in her lap—she'd cheat . [ laughter ]

I thought you were going to say in case, you know, the kids lost
them.

Oh, no ... I don't know where she got the rest of the
dominoes, but she was . . . that was very funny. She
had lost her husband ... I think he was only 33
years old, he was a miner. I think he got black lung
disease. She had a pretty hard time bringing up four children .
in that day and age. But, no, family get-togethers continued
but you weren't, you know, quite as close to all of your
f r i ends .

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

INTERVIEWER:

Did you still have a garden?

Not so much, no. In the first little house we had in this
country, there was a very nice garden . . . oh, to grow
tomatoes in the backyard! It was wonderful. The
English used to have a little pole frame or a little greenhouse
where you grew your tomatoes. But to have your tomato plants
in your backyard—this was something! Absolutely wonderful!
But not until later[when] there was just my
father and I and we . . . had to let the house go, you know,
it had been the family house, we got a little house in Warwick.
Then it had a garden, and then he spent most of his time
outdoors , rea l ly such a n ice l i t t le garden. And, i t ' s
nice, you know, the English feeling for a garden.

Did you have any people living with you besides parents
and children? Or like grandparents?

No.

Boarders . . .
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NORD: Well, al l famil ies I guess do this sort of thing.
One year a man who came to this country, who was I guess
what the English used to call a "fitter." They were experts
at setting up textile machinery. And he came to this country
to do that until he got married, and he lived with us. If
there's anything I remember about him was, my mother used to
make "sad cake" they call it. A currant cake, you know what
those are—very English, confectionary. But sad cake is pie
crust dough and you roll it out in a flat cake and then
paint it with egg. . . you know, a beaten egg. And then
bake it in the oven. Or then you made one of those with
currants, not ra is ins, currants. And, put currants in the
middle and fold it together and roll it out and paste it with
egg—a beaten egg—and bake that. And this is what Roland
wanted before he went to bed at night. So my mother would
make this sad cake and currant cake for Roland. However, then
my cousin wanted to come to this country and for a very
complicated reason couldn't be included in the quota. His
wife didn't pass the health test, so they went to Canada.
And his wife died there. And then he finally got through to
this country and brought his little daughter who was my
second cousin. And she was only five years old, and
she came to live at my house, and he went to live at his
mother's house where they had a larger family. So that,
unti l people got sett led, you did this sort of thing, with
individuals, you know.

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

How long did the l itt le girl stay with you all?

Oh, probably a year or so. . . and that was. . .much
later because I think I was away most of that time when
I used to work hard, working for the union. But I remember
that she used to go off to school in the morning. She took
an onion for lunch. Not for lunch, but for a snack. Raw
onions. . .

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

INTERVIEWER:

How long did Roland stay?

I can't remember.

Did your family know him in any way? What were the family's
connection. . .

NORD: He was close to, he had been the boyfriend of one of my
co-isins, and so they knew him very well. And I don't know
whether or not my mother knew his parents in England. But
this sort of thing. It wasn't just someone you. . .pick up,
like a homeless waif. . .1 don't know if we even considered
them boarders. Cer ta in ly not wi th the l i t t le ch i ld .

INTERVIEWER: Did they give your family money to help with their room?



NORD INTERVIEW 19.

NORD:

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

r

I . . . rather think the man would. But certainly not the child.

Not the child.

No.

Did you think that your brothers were treated pretty much the same?

You mean by my parents?

Within the family.

Oh, I used to say that they, no, the boys could do whatever they
l i k e , b u t I c o u l d n ' t . I d i d n ' t l i k e t h a t .

What kind of restrictions did you have?

Oh, I don't recall. And my brothers would sort of
order me about, you know. And about boyfriends, they didn't
like this one or that one and they would say whom I could see
and whom I couldn't see. And then I would say, you know, "Thanks.
They can do whatever they like." And they would tell me
the girls they saw and I would know about it one way or another,
and perhaps didn't l ike some of the girls. I wouldn't l ike the
girls anyway. I didn't want any girl taking my brothers away
from me. But I didn't like that. They could do whatever they
l i ke , bu t I cou ldn ' t .

Did your parents support that? Or did they give them a little
bit more freedom?

I don't think so. I think this was just my own emotion. I don't
recall that they treated us any differently. They would do
things that were sort of the natural thing to me that I didn't
like. I suppose it's because I had two brothers and no sisters.
But one Christmas, I don't know whether it was the first Christmas
or second Christmas we were in this country, they got flexible
flyers for Christmas.

What were those?

Don't you know what a flexible flyer is?

I t fl i e s , d o e s n ' t i t ?

Oh, one of those wonderful sleds rfhere you go belly flappers, and
you hold it, and you steer it! And then they bought me, you
know, the l i t t le g i r ly s led. You know, i t 's about th is h igh
[gesturing] and you sit on it and somebody pulls you. My heart
was broken. I d idn' t want th is th ing. I t r ied to go bel ly
flappers on it and landed in the snowbank. That's probably
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NORD: the basis of some of my independence, you know. I wanted these
things, and I would make a noise about it. And I didn't quite
get it, you know.

But that's what happens. I think that's a natural sort of
react ion. I t says [ re fer r ing to gu ide l ine quest ions] , "To
whom were you closest?" I was closest to my youngest brother.
I don't know why but I was closer to the younger one. Perhaps
because in growing up, his interest in things that he did, I
could maybe take part in, more so than in the older brother. But
then the older brother went away when he was about, I think he
must have been about 21, because he was an apprentice machinist.
And when he had finished his apprenticeship, he decided that he
couldn't do any more than, proceed any further or higher than he
had done then you know, just becoming a . . . what do you call
it? A full-fledged machinist. He wanted to do more than that.
So he went away, to work. And he worked away from then on and
then married, and moved into New York state. And the other
brother stayed here. So that this is perhaps another reason, but
this of course was in later years.

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

What did your younger brother do?

He worked for awhile in a factory. I think his
first work was in a text i le finishing factory. Because his
dearest friend [he] worked with, his father was the boss. And
I told you that story, too. Worked in the plant up on the
Ten Mile River, where all the dye from the shop goes
pouring into the river. But they could go out in the
afternoon, on a hot afternoon and jump into the river and have
a swim and then go back to work. So that's where he started to
work. Now he also went to work in the machine shop, and didn't
want to do that kind of work. He stayed in the
machine shop for quite some time, if I remember. And then
he went to work in a textile mill. And then got very much
interested in texti le processes, and went to [school], as a
matter of fact, for five years—nights. And was a graduate
of the tex t i le ca lcu la t ions . . . d iv is ion, that 's not the
name for it . . . But then also, [he] took
textile design, but wasn't very successful because that's when
texti le mil ls started to close hereabouts. The problem, of
course, often times in that sort of situation is that a person
doesn't want to move, you know, away from your family. It's
difficult to make that decision to move away.

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

How about religion?

I beg your pardon?
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INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

Was church important to your family?

I think so. Except that my parents didn't attend church much
after we came to this country, until perhaps their later years.
Yes, we were Episcopalian. The Church of England. And then, as
long as we were in England, we went to church school. I don't
know how many schools were still operated by the church then.
But the public schools—they called them county counsel schools—
I remember were new. But we all went to church school as long
as we were in England. The big thing then, of course, in every
body's life was church. You know, you walked in . . .
oh, there were all sorts of festivals, and things
that happened. [I] have some of the nicest memories about . . .
some of those things. There's a thing they call Harvest Home
in the fall. And the altar is stacked with wheat and loaves of
bread and the wonderful vegetables. And then there is this
Thanksgiving service, not as we have Thanksgiving in this country,
with a lot of food on the table and this sort of thing.
It was just a religious ceremony. But that
picture [which] stays with me is, you know, marvelous. To me,
it is a beautiful thing, flowers and . . . Listen, England is
really something with the flowers. In '68 I was in the south of
England. And I don't recall this happening in the north. But the
friend with whom I was staying, said, "I have to go to church
today and take some flowers." And it was Pentecost Sunday.
This is the Sunday when the Christians believe that
the dove came down from heaven and this symbolizes Spirit, you
know, the Holy Spirit—God. And the colors for that day are
red and white in Church. You never saw such a magnificent display
of red and white flowers in all your life that were brought to
that church that day. I t was real ly lovely, and the flor ist
doesn't bring them, people bring them from their gardens-r- white
lilac and red roses and white daisies and red daisies and . . .
it was just red and white. It was the loveliest thing and the
decorations are grand. And there are little boxes, metal boxes,
made for every possible place that will hold a box. There will
be three boxes for this window here, made to exact proportions
of the window sil l. And flowers arranged, three similar arrange
ments for the three windows here. For the pulpit, with the
little steps up, there were little tiny boxes made for each step.
And the care . . . and everybody had an assignment. They
let me do one window! But this was something. We don't [in this
country] do this sort of thing.

How do you think it was different in the U.S., and why do you
think your parents didn't go to rburch as much?

Christmas—so you send .ten, fifteen bucks to the church so they
can buy a couple plants, you know? And dress up the church and
it looks beautiful. But this thing of bringing from your own
garden, having just the right things—white roses and red roses
and white daisies and red daisies—this was magnificent. And
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NORD: a hundred women brought flowers! And the care and the detail.
And it's just not a big sloppy thing. You'd better know how
to arrange flowers, too! Of course, this is one of the character
i s t i cs o f t he i r l i f e and l i v i ng , you know. A l i t t l e b i t d i f f e ren t
than we do.

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

Do you think that your parents had any, did they go to church
at first when they came here and then decided against it later?

They would occasionally go to church. But, you know, when you
work 54, 48 hours a week, and you've got a family to take care
of, and then on Sunday . . . .Now, of course,
there's a difference. The church isn't around the corner, too,
you see. You've got to have some way to get to church. One in
Pawtucket would have been a mile away from where we lived,
had no car. We managed to get there. I must have been in
this country before I was confirmed in the Episcopal Church
and then, you know, becoming a member, and getting all dressed
up in white and. . .

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

INTERVIEWER:

Did you stop going to church also when you started to work?

No t rea l l y. I don ' t t h ink I eve r s topped go ing , because
I think with the*kind of upbringing you had,
for instance in the Anglican church and church school, church
was sort of a part of [your l ife]. There's some things I don't
like about my particular denomination now, except that I do like
the atmosphere, you know, the buildings and things that I remem
ber, and it 's a natural sort of environment that you're sort of
brought up in. And i t 's ingrained, I th ink.

Do you think your family was different from the neighbors in
your community?

In this country? I don't think so, they're working class.

Were there many English people in your community? Your immediate
neighborhood?

NORD: Not in my immediate neighborhood, but in Pawtucket, in the Darlington
section. Oh,yes,., a lot of peopla There was an English fish
and chip shop, and an English bakery—my cousins owned the English
bakery. And there were English communities elsewhere, of course.
Graystone was a very English community. People worked in that
woolen mill there, and in the blanket factory. But in our neighbor
hood, there weren't any others like our family. You know, you
found a house for your family, you had to go wherever,
but it wasn't so far away from relatives—a couple of miles.
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INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

People of what other backgrounds were in your neighborhood?

Well, next door were French, across the street were French,
the other side was a cranky old Yankee and there was French all
around us. But in the back of us was another nice
Yankee family. [And] Irish . . . were our immediate neighbors.

Were you friends with a lot of the children that were your same
age?

Well when we first came to this country when I was ten,
we lived in a little cottage with a French family next door.
And there was a girl who was a year or so older than me and I
was friends with that family. I think they were probably my
closest friends then. I don't remember any . . . there never
were any others. There weren't many in my immediate neighbor
hood, [I was friends] with that family 'cause they
had a baby. And, you know, when you have a little girl ten years
old and she can take care of your baby, then you've got something
there. I was close to that family.

And they immigrated from Quebec?

I don' t recal l , I don' t th ink so. . . . They used to let me play
the piano.

Play on a piano?

Yes. Wel l I th ink i t was qui te a di fferent fami ly than ours.
The mother didn't work because she was sickly. I would love to
go to that house. I played that piano and played with that baby!
Well, that was before I was fourteen years old. Then when you
were fourteen, you know, when you go to work, the whole thing
changes. We had friends that worked, but then you
work and you.... I went to school for years and years and years
at night. I left school at sixth grade. And I went to school
evenings, when I was fifteen, and I finished seventh and eighth
grade with the help of a teacher in one year. Then I went to
high school. I went to high school for years, doing all kinds
of nothing (and I liked to go to school). And they didn't teach
anything except business courses then. So I would take a couple
of business courses one year, and the next year, another couple
of business courses. There was nothing consecutive, sort of,
and nobody to help you with. And I didn't want
thir. sort of thing, you know, it was just business English,
typ ing, ar i thmet ic . . .

What would you have liked to take-.'

I don't think I would have known at that stage. You
know, here you finish grammar school, there's no such thing as
guidance counselors. You want to go to school, so, "We have this
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NORD:

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

and this and this and this," and you take a couple
of courses. I didn't take any consecutive sort of thing leading
from year to year. I took typing, and business English, and
another year I took arithmetic and then, oh, just related subjects
to business. You know, business, business, business. 'Cause I
guess they thought, "What a girl would like to do is become a
secretary or some such thing," you know?

Yes.

No, I had absolutely no interest in th is sort of th ing. I just
wanted to go to school.

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

INTERVIEWER:

Why?

Oh, I loved school. Just like today, I was reading . . . Did
you read the little piece they had in the Sunday paper about
Florence Murray? I know her very well. She's Judge Murray,
Superior Court. She is a very nice person. She said—
they asked her the sort of things she did—she said, "Well,"
she says, "I read a lot." She says, "I ' l l read anything." And
I thought to myself, "That 's me," I ' l l read anything! You know,
you have to. So I'll read anything. . . Well, who knows? What
kid knows at fourteen what you want to do?

I guess I was asking, were there fewer choices in the evening
school than in the day school?

Of course. A boy could take ... I was helped by the example [of.
my older brother, too. He went to school for years—evenings—
and he took drafting and draftsman work. And his drawings, they
were just beautiful. Just absolutely grand, so meticulous and
lovely; and just to be able to do this sort of thing, you know . .
I didn't want to do that, but the fact that you could
learn things and do such nice things.
But nothing except this. I suppose they were geared to what the
need was in a particular industry.

You never thought of stopping work in the mills and getting a job
in an office?

NORD: I t d idn ' t i n te res t me a t a l l . No , i t j us t d idn ' t eve r
occur to me. I don't know whether it would have been wise or .
No idea. No, it would have been sort of—I was going to say—
alien to my background, the atmosphere [in] which I lived.

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

Did you have any friends who did go to office work, or,

Oh, later, yes. Of course, I joined the YWCA when I went to work.
I had a lot of friends there. I was very active in the YWCA.

INTERVIEWER: What kinds of activities were there?
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NORD:

f

Oh, there were special groups. That was really their heyday,
in the YWCA. And they had secretaries—they called them
Industrial Secretaries—and [they] were trained to work
with Industry groups. They would go into the factories at
noontime, and have half-hour gymnasium classes in the dining
room, or the lunch room, or some place. And recruit. But
I went because, day school, these girls—rich kids, you know—
would come to school in their jersey bloomers and their
midi (?) blouses. And they would be absolutely beautiful.

Just to have bloomers and a midi (?) blouse and look like
that! My mother said, "You can go when you start to work, we
can't afford it now." So, I became one of the girls when
I started to work. And that was a wonderful experience,
really a great experience. They would have a special night
on which they would serve supper. My dad would say, (it's
something now you remember all these things as you get older)
"Do you remember when you used to ask me to kill a chicken to
take to the YWCA supper?" (laugh) He had a few chickens,
I said, "Can I have a chicken on Thursday night, Dad?" There
was a woman who would make supper for the club. And then there
would be supper. And then—I don't know how we managed this
af ter working al l day—listen, I t r ied to learn to play
tennis; I. couldn't hold a tennis racket, I was so tired.
But then, I don't know [at] what point, you would have an
assembly. And then gymnasium. And then basketball. By
that time you'd be half-dead. And then swimming.

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

All these in sequence?

Yes, one right after the other. And this would go from six
o'c lock unt i l n ine or nine-thir ty. And that was real ly geared
to this Industr ial Group. This was just fine. And they had
some marvelous people, really great people in their programs;
you know, directors and Industrial Secretaries (they called
them). And they would have speakers about child labor and
these things, you know, that we were interested in. It was
a great thing in that day. So those in your group became
your friends, you know, group of friends with the same interests
and age group. And then they would have conferences, weekend
conferences. And I remember I was the leader of one
of the conferences somewhere along the way. I don't know
how I managed that, but I was active in that.

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

How long were you active in the Y?

Oh, a long time. I served on the Board—not after I started
work in the Union, because I was away so much—but for a
long t ime. And I recal l in '33 . . .1 must have st i l l been
active. We had a terrific str ike in '33 and again in '34.
'33 was a general strike. The wives of some of the
textile manufacturers were on the Board. I remember
once , one of them saying—and I was vice-president of
my union then; we had 3,000 weavers and it was difficult—
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NORD: If Elizabeth is involved, "There must be something good about
this." So they invited me to come to a Board meeting to explain
the strike. And you know, these women usually would not meet at
night. Their husbands wouldn't allow them to go out at night. They
had to be home at night. . .They invited me to speak and tell them
about the strike. A fine group of women, and very dedicated, you
know, to the Y. And one of them—as a matter of fact, her brother
was superintendant of one of the mills that we could not organize,
but we were trying to close it down by picketing. She had arranged
a meeting with him, to have me speak to him, to explain
to him . . . You know, she thought maybe if I could persuade
him about my point of view, that perhaps I might be able to per
suade him that what we were doing was all right. And I did go
talk with him, but didn't have any luck. But it was a
great day in the YWCA in those days. It was very good. It was
very effective work amongst industry girls. Of course, not only
there, [but] around the world they were doing effective work.
And they really knew what they were doing in industries, you
know, in ternat ional pol i t ics and domest ic pol i t ics. So, that
was a very good experience.

INTERVIEWER: Did you learn things about politics from often hearing the speakers,
is that what you mean?

NORD: No, not there. No, I think I began having some
interest in some questions, some legislation, in the Y: child
labor . . . what else was I interested in?

INTERVIEWER: I was just going to ask you, you've talked about the school you
went to and about the Y, but perhaps you'd like to say something
about the Bryn Mawr Summer School.

NORD:

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

That's a whole other subject.

What is the name of the other labor school you went to?

Well, the Bryn Mawr Summer School for Women Workers in Industry.
And I went to the summer school at Barnard College which would
be for women workers in industry, too. And the Vineyard Shore
Labor School, which was an eight-month school.

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

Vineyard Shore, where was that?

This was—do you know where Highland is? On the Hudson River?
You know, Kingston?

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

Yes.

Below Kingston. This was the home of Hilda Smith, who was the
Director of the school. The school operated for four years.

INTERVIEWER: What were the years you went to each of those places?
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NORD:

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

Vineyard Shore was '29. Well, I was there in '29 and '30. Yes,
we were in school when the "crash" came. And I had been before
that, to Bryn Mawr Summer School, two summers. And one summer
at Barnard.

And what years were those?

Bryn Mawr Summer School was '23 and '24, I think,
remember, but Barnard was between '24 and '29.

And I don't

What do you remember most about those schools? What did you like?
What did you learn?

Well, it was all very good. The directors and all the people
interested have written a great deal about them. Some of the
women in here were women who taught there at those schools.
The Bryn Mawr College then had a marvelous president and I
don't know how she happened to team up with this wonderful group
of trade union women in New York City, from the Women's Trade
Union League, that you said you were familiar with. People
like Rose Schneiderman, Mabel Leslie, Agnes Nestor, Mrs. Roosevelt
was part of that group—what was the labor director's name—
Frances Perkins. Well, this group had been quite an influence
in New York City and, actually they were, they were a great
influence on Franklin Roosevelt. And that's a whole story in
itself which is absolutely amazing. And, of course, in the labor
movement—I don't think that there's ever been anything written
that really does give them the credit that they deserve. They
really knuckled down, this group of women, to helping the
International Ladies Garment Workers to get their union started
after the Triangle Fire; and all these, some of these women
came out of that movement. And so they were an established, a
real ly absolutely marvelous bunch of go-getters. I can't recal l
how this idea about using ... I know M. Carey Thomas had an
idea that it's too bad that these magnificent
places shouldn't be used, just shut up in the summer time and
not used. And, however, they together planned this project
and brought in some great teachers. And the system was set up on
the, I think, what they call the honor system, and the tutorial
system—tutors worked with you, you had lecturers and then you
had tutors that worked with you and small groups. Absolutely
marvelous, and the curriculum, of course, was not strictly geared
to working in the trade union movement although that was the
purpose . The point was not so much training you for just, from
the point of view of getting yourself educated; rather you see,
they had a phrase that was coined by someone there, "To Give
Workers a Voice in the Pen," which was
a very nice phrase. But you had cocial science, in addition to
labor legislation, economics and some psychology and literature.
And they had marvelous people.
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And when you were working your mother stopped working, so your
wages . . ?

Yes. I always say at sixteen so it must be so because it stays
with me. When I learned to weave—and-you know It
takes some time to learn a trade—weaving is skilled work. And
I guess there were some young girls then who would go into it
and would perhaps find it too difficult; they didn't want to
work on these dirty machines and knock themselves out. They
d idn ' t s tay a t i t .

Did she ever go back to work again after that?

No.

And did your father stay working for . . .

Oh, he stayed, he worked until he was 72 years old.

And your brother, did his wages go to the family?

My younger brother?

Yes.

Yes, and again, I don't remember when. None of this stays with
me so there must have, whatever the arrangement was must have
been satisfactory to us and we had no problems. Never had any
problems of that sort. I think that we, well we liked our home
and this is what you did. And I remember that it was up to '52
that I kept the family home and then all of a sudden I thought
to myself, "What am I doing, I'm just out of my mind!" because
it's costing me. I had no money, you know. I had a nice home
but no money. I spent the last $500 I had to have the porch
fixed and then wanted the house painted— where I was going to
get the money I don't know —but still keeping the home, this
is important.

What did you do after that, did you leave?

We sold the house.

And your brothers?

No. ny brothers lived in New York State then.

So you and your father, was this?

Yes, we were still in the home that they had bought in 1918,
which was a fairly large house, cottage.

Do you think your parents expected you to get married or wanted
you :o get married?
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NORD: I would think so. But I think, you know, of
all the kinds of experience you have. The only explanation I
can have is you sort of grow away from your own group,
and there aren't many people let's say in my grouping,
who would do what I have done. And so that there weren't many
men, boys, who had my interest, you see, and
wouldn't have gone as . . . [There were men] who were, you know,
very nice, but wouldn't have gone as far in activities and think
ing and education that I have and [therefore] just don't suit
you. I think then, of course, you get involved—and you sure
are involved—and you just don't know. Well then there are
sort of other compensatory things . . .

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

You mean with the Union?

Yes. I mean there are a lot of satisfying, nice and happy and
important things about it, so it has its compensation. And of
course you're so busy. For instance, the first
real regret I have had, I have felt this past year when I've
been retired. It would be awfully nice to have somebody close
to you in the family, I mean your own. I have three nephews and
a niece but they are, they're far-removed and I seldom see them.
But you know, for instance, you go down to—this probably isn't
relevant, you needn't bother—but you go down and have a vaca
tion down in Florida and it's the cutest thing. You see this old
couple walking along the beach and holding hands and they're so
comfortable and contented and happy and you know (laughter) it
r e a l l y i s n i c e . B u t h a v i n g t h a t f e e l i n g o f . . . I t h i n k i t ' s
maybe wanting somebody to do something for, you know, rather
than somebody do something for you.

Did you live alone after your father died?

Yes, but he's been dead only three years. He lived to be almost
100 years old—97 1/2. Three years this past April he died
He was in the nursing home for ten years. You see, when I say
I have this feeling only recently, is, you know, since I've had
time. Because I had that responsibility and it kept me busy and [I]
didn't mind it. Had things to do about it and just had to work
to pay the bi l ls, but, you know, i t 's. . . . And I suppose, wel l
you know this thing about boys. I don't remember my
parents so much, but with my brothers.
I remember this feeling, you know, that somehow I had to have their
approval. And they could go out with whom they damned well
pleased but I had to be pretty careful, you know, that I selected
the right person. Well,but with my parents, whatever I wanted
to do was all right by them.

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

They were very happy with your union work.

They were happy with me period. (laughter)
You know, no problem. Whatever I had wanted to do.
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When you first started working did you think that you would quit
when you got married or did you think that you would always work?

I don't know, how do you know unless . . . Oh, it depends
who you marry, where you go. I think that in our environment
most women went to work. My youngest sister-in-law went to
work, my oldest sister- in-law did not. She didn't work at al l .
My youngest sister-in-law worked for seven years. I don't know,
[I] never thought about it . . . When you go to work so young it's
in your system so to speak, so that one of the strangest experiences
for me now is not having this routine. And when I was weaving, I
loved my weaving, I never expected to leave weaving, even though
the union, they asked me to come to work for the union. Even
going to labor schools—I had never anticipated . . . And I've
had some responsibility in the union when I was working and this
was al l r ight. I worked for almost sixty years. You should
have heard me say this before. My father would say to me, "How
would you like to be weaving [now] Elizabeth?" "Dad, I'd drop
dead if I had to weave today." You know, in later years, since
I've been at the last work I had. Oh, you know, it was difficult.
But in your younger days, this was really something. This is
why it sort of provokes me about this question of workers being
apathetic about their work and complaining. Complaining is part
of anybody's personality and character. But I think my father
was a good workman and enjoyed his work. I loved to knock
those looms around! If I hadn't gone to work for the union, I
probably would have been a weaver as long as I could; and then I
would have had to give up because I would have been probably
physically exhausted. But I loved weaving.

Do you think it might be different for people who didn't have
skilled jobs, though, as you did?

No, I don't think so. Because I think people who didn't have
ski l led jobs, a lot of them wouldn't have—perhaps this isn' t
the way to put it—[the] capacity to wonder whether or not what
they're doing . . . they're glad to have a job and be making a
living, and contributing and doing and interested. And you
get interested in your work, you're part of an organization.
You're important whatever you're doing. You're important to the
structure. Somebody's got to sweep the floors, clean the toilets,
and if you keep on cleaning you get a pat on the back for it
so . . . r ight?

INTERVIEWER: Did you have friends at work or were your friends mostly from
the Y?

NORD: I had friends at work that you m^ght see occasionally away from
work, but in the main, no. Because at work there wouldn't be
so many people, especially in my work—in weaving—there weren't
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many people in my age group with the same interests. A lot of
married women. Men, you'd see a lot of men. Men and women.

Did you always work in a mixed room . . .

Oh, always. In the weave room, yes.

What do you think the best job you ever had was?

Well I only had three. I was a weaver, and then I was
an organizer, and then I was this member of the Board of Review.
The best job: when I was weaving, I liked it; when I was organ
iz ing, I l i ked i t ; when I had th is job . . . Of course, th is job
was very nice for me in my later years because I couldn't have
gone on weaving in the kind of work that's gone on in the factories
in the later years. I doubt if I could have physically done
it for as long as I would need to work. I always enjoyed
what I was doing.

T h a t ' s t e r r i fi c .

And I had a very interesting, marvelous experience in the union.
Well in the process of organizing, you meet some absolutely
marvelous people and people are so appreciative. They're
convinced that what you're doing is for their
good—you want to help them. It's really wonder
ful some of the experiences you have. Although often times
it isn't so much that they come up and shake your hand and say
"Thank you," because sometimes you could get $100-a-week increase
for somebody that wouldn't say thank you. For instance, by the
fact that I worked as long as I did in what I did, I was elected
to my position. The fact that they elect you without any question,
you know. You know that it isn't that they're doing it for any
other reason than that they trust you, and so this is good.
And to be elected. Now also, to hold the last position I held,
I couldn't hold this on my own. I was a representative of the
labor movement. The labor movement supported me in that position.
So this is a good feeling.

You were elected as . . ?

As an organizer for the national union, no, I was appointed;
But when I was Joint Board manager, I was elected to that
pos i t i on .

And how long were you that?

Oh my! From . . . how many years? I can't remember exactly.
I was away from the union in '45, I was in the Labor Department
in '45 and '46. So '46 and '47, then I went back, was an
assistant again. Then I was acting manager during the war
period and then I left the union in '46 and '47 to go to the
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NORD: Labor Department and then I came back to the union. I
didn't like that work. And then I left in '56, oh, for
a number of years, no-no, not that long as manager. I'd
say a period of five or six years as manager at least. And
then each year you'd have to be reelected to your position.

r

You have some marvelous and interesting experiences. . . A
situation comes to mind. . . I was asked to go into a little
place in Connecticut, the girls wanted some help there. They
had a union and they weren't very active, but I was sent over to
help them work in the sweater factory. And their husbands worked
in a factory where they made ax heads or some such thing in
Connecticut. You know, they do a lot of that iron work or
that sort of thing in Connecticut. Their husbands had a vacation
on, I think, the first or second week of July and these girls
didn't have any vacation, no paid vacation. They wanted a
vacation. So I went in. And I didn't know these gir ls. I was
just sent in to help them through this situation because they were
going to stop work, you know, if they didn't get what they
wanted. And they weren't very sophisticated about it, they were just
going to stop work, period. Anyway, we'd go in and just get [so
many] questions. . .Absolutely didn't know where to go, didn't
know what to do. . .So finally we'd just sit, and sit, and you
sit. And finally we said to the owner, "If you think that we're
going to go up there in the work room and tell those girls
that they can't have a vacation on the first and second week
in August," we said, "you're out of your mind! We're not gonna
do i t ! " And i t worked . . . .

INTERVIEWER: Did you have to travel a lot once you became full-time in the
union?

NORD: When I was a representative of the union, yes. I did, I travelled
quite a bit. One year, I think I told you about, I was in
Washington for a year and in addition to Washington, the whole
state of Virginia was mine. I ( laughter) won't talk about that.
Oh, that was a terrible experience, that was awful. That was
before you were born, 1935, when things were rough, rough, rough.

INTERVIEWER: How did you feel about the travelling and how did it affect
your. . .

NORD:

^

I was young then and had a car and things were exciting. We tried
to organize down in Virginia. The workers wanted to organize, you'd
meet out in the cornfields and as " ong as they were, you know,
really working at it you really tried your damnedest. And things
worked and it was often an imperative kind of thing. [of course,
then] in '35, you know, the [NRA was abrogated] or some sections of it,
and so in the South they immediately put the workers on 48-hour weeks.
You know, the NRA provided for time-and-a-half after forty hours. They
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NORD: immedia te ly pu t workers on 48-hour weeks w i thou t any inc rease
in wages at all, let alone no overtime. And they were making
twelve and thirteen dollars a week. Weavers were making only
twelve dollars a week down in the South. So this was an awful
situation we tried to, you know, get involved in and local
bankers and businessmen were threatening to ride us out of town
on a rail. So you drove into town and gave them a chance, you
know? [ laughter ] I t was real ly qui te exc i t ing and in terest ing.

INTERVIEWER: Were there any kind of people in the community who you went to
that you could count on?

N O R D : N e v e r, n o t d o w n t h e r e . N o b o d y, a b s o l u t e l y n o b o d y ! I f t h e y g o t
the chance they'd really run you out of town on a rail. One
day a young man who was the leader of this group—I was due to
go down there—[said] "Don't come down," he said. "They're
gonna ride you out of town on a rail." And I went right down
there, [and gave them] a chance. [laughter] The bosses from
the shop would be assigned to come follow me around in a car.
If I'd been a man I probably would have gotten in a fight. Oh,
you know, there were such things happening then, men who lost
their lives in the South, and to this day have never been found.

INTERVIEWER: You mean labor organizers . . .

N O R D : R i g h t ! O h , t h e y ' d t e l l m e t o g o o n b a c k t o R u s s i a i n t h a t t o w n .
This was Orange [?], Virginia, and this was a Northern manufacturer
who was operating there.

INTERVIEWER: Were you frightened sometimes?

N O R D : N o , I n e v e r w a s f r i g h t e n e d . I t w a s a s o r t o f . . . W e l l , I h a t e
that word when people say that it's a challenge , you
know, when ge t t ing a new job o r someth ing , i t ' s go t to
be a challenge, you know. They don't know what the hell a
challenge is! But it was just gonna come out of my mouth that
it was . . . you were challenged. But I think that i t 's a different
thing than saying something new is going to be a challenge. How
do you know until you do it? No, it never bothered me. As a
matter of fact, I think that was, for whatever reasons this com
pelled me I think this was probably the thing that made me do it
or gave me this abi l i ty. No. This man, this
Northern manufacturer—it was so flagrant, the thing that he did—
was so posit ively awful. You'd have to do things which . . . I
mean you'd have to put your actio 1 where your mouth is so to speak,
if you're going to say to workers, you know, "You should do this,"
and so on, "this, that and the other should happen." You have
to show your willingness to try to make it happen. So, he got
out of his car in front of the factory and along one side, and I
was there so I'd hurry up when he is going to come to the steps
and, "Mr. So-and-so, can I speak to you?" He looked at me as
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And the union, my union until not many years ago would not send
good people into the South because it was, you see, they would
say it was not yet ready. It was impossible [to organize withJ
the kind of situation you would have . . .
And this was, of course, my experience
before the days of CIO: a waste of talent to work in some places
in the South. It was just impossible. This whole town was up
in arms against me. This was in the place where that awful thing
is happening with that new chemical—is it Kepone—in Hopewell,
Virginia? Oh God, that was another terrible experience!
Positively awful. The whole community there was against the
workers in this factory. One person who was very, very successful
in the South worked for my union for awhile and she was, I m
quite sure she came from a family of aristocrats
—Lucy Mason—a lovely lady. And she was quite effective
with a lot of the Southern people, you know, manufacturers
and employers. She was just great.

INTERVIEWER: Are you saying that because of her background?

N O R D : Ye s , [ t a k e ] r a e , I ' m a n o r g a n i z e r , a N o r t h e r n e r. A l l t h e y h a v e t o
do is hear me open my mouth and they're "agin me" you know? Lucy
Randolph Mason (1959 she died), she was born in the Episcopal
Rectory in Clarence, Virginia, daughter of a minister. She
worked for the Young Women's Christian Association, was elected
[to] Richmond Equal Suffrage League and Richmond League of Women
Voters, chairman of the Committee on Women and Industry and
National Advisory Commission of Virginia. Samuel Gompers appointed
her to something. She joined the Union of Labor Leagues, succeeded
Florence Kelly, in the National Consumers League. [She was]
Southern director for Textiles and Clothing Organizations in 37
and worked for the Southern Congress in addition to organizations
for the election committee. She was a great lady and she has a
number of books that she wrote. But she would meet them, she
would be more than their equal, I mean you know, a lady of the
firs t order. Just absolute ly great . She was no l i t t le Nor thern
textile worker that they would tell to go back to Russia,
[ laugh te r ]

INTERVIEWER: Let's ask a couple of questions and then try to quit. How about
this one: Thinking back to women in your local who were active
and then dropped out, why did they, and why did you remain? .

N O R D : W h o s a i d t h e y d r o p p e d o u t ? [ l a u g h t e r ] I n m y l o c a l , w e l l , y o u
see, I don't think in terms of women. Oh, my local was men and
women, weavers, we were equal numbers of men and women. It
wasn't a matter of men or women. It was workers. I never thought
in terms of women. I guess because of my work experience. Women
were less likely to be active, and there was so very few. ...
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NORD: But there were probably, here and there, some active and loyal
union members.
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Why do you think that was?

Well I think women don't lend themselves to ... of course
it may be different in my union than in some others....And
in the textile industry, I think I could have become a national
officer of my union had I deigned to want it or put the effort
in. But I don't think that I was quite aggressive enough to do
that. If it had interested me, I think I could have accomplished
that in my union. Not just because it was me, but I think the
situation would have allowed me to do it. Because at the time
that we formed our new organization, the thinking was that they'd
like to have a woman in the leadership of the union. There aren't
as many women in textiles as ordinarily is thought to be—50
per cent or fewer—because there are many textile processes that
aren't done by women.

Did you mean that a lot of women aren't aggressive enough?

Not interested. And being an organizer means you have to be
away from home, and a lot of women—[that] just goes against
the grain of these women, [they] don't want no part of that.
You'd have to have that experience. When I say you have to have
that experience . . . well I know we had a manager in Holyoke who
was a very effective person. She never became a member of the
executive board of the union. I was a member of the executive
board of the International Union for a great many years. She
never became a member, she didn't want to. She was very effective
in her work, as long as she's general manager of the union in the
Holyoke area.

Have you seen any difference between single and married women?

In the un ion? I don ' t th ink i t ' s a mat ter o f s ing le . I th ink
perhaps that it's been sort of my experience—if you have the
kind of experience I've had—it might lend itself to your not
being married. But there are married women who have been very
effective. For instance, the woman I'm talking about is Mrs.
Sul l ivan, Anna Sul l ivan. Another very effect ive gir l in Ken
tucky was a very handsome girl who has just retired. Some worked
in the South....Incidentally, my union has just merged with the
Ari?igamated Clothing Workers, you've seen that. Which is good.

I t ' s t e r r i fi c .

You see, a good deal [of] what I say about my experience in
my union wouldn't be typical of some others. I think the
Amalgamated has been a little bit more actually rough
or restrict ive with regard to women. Although I shouldn't
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say that because I, it's just my feeling because I
can't back it up with anything. I can only remember one girl who
. . . I used to know. I thought she was a very n ice person ,
a married girl. She had a young baby and she had been assigned
to a new place. And then they were going to restrict her going
home for once every two weeks, and this I thought was pretty
rough on the [g i r l ] . . . .

Did you ever feel that there was an informal power structure that
you were left out of or that there was informal caucusing or
decision-making over beers and bars that you weren't part of or
anything l ike that?

No, no. What could happen ... I was usually in
charge of the situation. I was organizing. I was in charge of
the situation with the joint board or I was assistant manager
in charge; what could happen that I needn't be part of?

Well you could feel like the union wasn't supporting you,or they
weren't backing you with resources, that you were sort of making
a set of decisions and . . .

Oh, those kind of things can happen I guess. There's no question.
But I never had this kind of thing happen to me. And it wouldn't
necessarily be because I was a woman. If that would have happened
to me it would be because what I did, the policy was wrong or not
successful or my personality was . . .no, never that kind of
th ing .

At what periods of your life was union responsibility the heaviest
and how'd you juggle the rest of your life at those times, did you
have any?

Wel l there 's jus t no res t o f your l i fe [ laughter ] . Tha t ' s i t .
There's just no rest of your life. The only time you'd have a
Sunday off would be in June, July, and August, and you'd work
Saturday morning. One group of women who had a local union over
on East Providence, they'd meet on Sunday night and they
were all married women. The only night they'd have free
was Sunday night. Actually it was only once a month.
But, you see, they'd have meetings evenings. And.
then you'd have as many as 40 local unions or more. Well there's
forty meetings a month. And it doesn't mean that you have to
attend forty meetings, because your business agents were assigned
to do things, but this is an awful lot of stuff going on. And
then if there were something exciting [going on], sometimes what
you'd have to have [is] if there were three shifts in a factory
or two shifts, you'd have to have a meeting in the morning and a
meeting in the afternoon. You know, for third shift and second
shift would meet in the morning, and all kinds of things like
t h i s .
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INTERVIEWER: Do you feel like you made sacrifices in order to be active?

N O R D : I d o n ' t t h i n k s o , I c h o s e t o d o t h i s . W e l l , w h a t a l t e r n a t i v e a m
I go ing to . . . I th ink the fi rs t th ing tha t you might th ink o f
as a woman: would you have gotten married, left work, have a
fami ly? Is that the a l ternat ive? Of course, i t needn' t be;
because a lot of people have, there's been lots of women who've
been married and [have been] active. Some absolutely great
women. One that comes to my mind is Esther Peterson was absolutely
something. You know Peterson who was in Johnson's Cabinet. What
was she, Consumer Secretary for Consumer Affairs. And then she
was Secretary of Labor, was she labor or labor standards? But oh,
Esther Peterson and her husband, they're just too great, they're
just too absolutely perfect. They both worked and worked with
dedication, a great deal. [They are] a couple of Swedes. And
now she's not in the labor movement. She was Washington Rep
resentative for the Amalgamated Clothing Workers for years. And
she now is consumer advisor for the Giant Supermarkets in Washing
ton and she has been absolutely great. She has four children and
they're all married, but they have been great in labor. And
she had taught in the summer schools and at Bryn Mawr and she
visited at Hudson Shore. Lots of women have been married
and done great jobs. But there seem to have been sort of teams,
two people; you know, [for example] Alice Cook, who seems to be
the moving force in this project, she and her husband, they
were divorced, but she and her husband for years were a marvelous
couple.

INTERVIEWER: Are you saying that the couples were teams, working in . . .

NORD: Yes , t hey ' r e sympa the t i c and , yes , t hey wo rked as t eams . They
[Alice Cook and her husband] worked with my union in the early
d a y s . T h e y d i d g r e a t w o r k . T h e y t a u g h t i n t h e s u m m e r
school. They did this great job in the synthetic yarn industry
that was absolutely a marvelous thing.

INTERVIEWER: Was there a special kind of camaraderie that developed among
union activists, was i t expecial ly strong during certain t ime
periods?

N O R D : I t h i n k t h e r e i s , y e s , e s p e c i a l l y w i t h s t a f f . I t ' s a n a t u r a l
and logical thing and, of course . . . it 's a
point of view and principals and philosophy that you find in
very few other people and very few other places. So that this
is a logical kind of situation, in which you're happy. You
talk the same language. You have the same attitudes about pecile
who don't [laughter] quite see your way. But this is good, this
is prrt of the whole thing, a very important part of the whole
thing. And I have said often that, I don't know of any other
situation . . . that the trade union movement is one place where
you can very quickly learn to know the character of people. You
really, you have got to measure up in most situations. As a
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NORD: matter of fact, you have got to be interested or you won't stay.
But you've got to measure up. There's opportunities sometimes
for doing certain sorts of things that you. . . I remember when
one judge in Rhode Island—not judge, a lawyer—who one of our
business agents used to go to for advice about workers' compen
sation cases. He [the lawyer] wanted to sort of make a deal, you
know, that this business agent would bring all his cases to him.
And then at Christmas time came a moment I
supply of liquor for everybody [came], and he was just ordered
by the then-business manager to just take that right back. And
I remember another situation, a wonderful friend. . . of mine
who worked with me—Seth Gifford—who's now a lawyer in the
city—worked with us for years. He is a Quaker. And he came
to work with us....He was absolutely wonderful as a business agent,
And one year the company, the Crown Manufacturing Company was
giving turkeys to all its employees, so the man who took care
of the labor affairs—what did they call them in the plant—said,
"Seth, I have a package for you," and brings out a turkey in front
of the committee.

Also we're committed and knowledgeable about the labor movement.
You see, to come into a group of trade unionists you'd have to
have pretty smart people, because here are people who are, you
know, workers who are experienced in the trade union movement and
in industry. This doesn't mean they're a bunch of dummies and
know-nothings. Because if you've had. . . some training in the
trade union movement then you know a little bit more than the
instructor knows about some particular things and [that worker]
is just going to tel l you, "Look, this just isn' t so." So most
all of the instructors I would say would have to be sympathetic and
knowledgeable about this trade union movement; have to understand
what was going on in the trade union movement. And they came from
all over the country; Chicago, the West Coast, not just recruited
locally around Philadelphia. Probably there was nobody from
Philadelphia, one or two people perhaps from Bryn Mawr College because
they had a really, they had a pretty good sociology department
at that time. And this is perhaps another reason why the school
was so successful, why it lasted. They had very good people.
Well, so the whole thing was just. . .Really if you wanted to go
to school this was a made-to-order kind of wonderful thing.

INTERVIEWER: How were you chosen to go?

NORD: You had to, well I read the notice at the YWCA. I don't know
if I .jould have seen it any other place. But the notice was
posted about the summer school.
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NORD: I was no t ye t 21 . The l owes t age was 21 , I was no t ye t 21 ,
but they . . . Then you had to fill out an application, then [you]
went to other classes that were set up around the city during
that winter. (I don't know whether that was required or whether
I just did it). And I was accepted. There were later three
other young women who went from Pawtucket.

INTERIVEWER: They said in the program that they would try to get people to
come in two's, so they wouldn't be isolated. Did you go with
anybody else from textiles in Pawtucket?

N O R D : N o . I d i d n ' t k n o w a n y t h i n g a b o u t t h e s c h o o l t h e n . I l a t e r
was the student representative on the board which was
an interesting procedure . . . you know, the board that
operated the school.... However, this was really a
grand experience, and this was the pattern at Barnard.
And in Barnard [vith regard]to the labor movement,you've got all
shades of political opinion, from the most radical Communist, you
know, to the—I was going to say to the ultra-conservative . . .
you wouldn't get ultra-conservative in New York City. So this
was a really marvelous experience. The Hudson Shore school
was set up the same way and then there was .... I don't
recall any oral testing or any sort of testing at the summer
schools. But at Vineyard Shore you were to choose a subject
i n e c o n o m i c s , o r l e t ' s s a y, i n t h e fi e l d o f e c o n o m i c s
or sociology, then you were given two days to present the result
of your study in class at the end of the school term, which was
very interesting. And you know that was really something to do.
That really was, I remember . . . Oh, and I loved it! Well, I
took something l ike—I can't recall exactly—something l ike
History of Textiles. Then it was interesting to me, not knowing
anything ■ about the early processes of
textiles. And [there were] a couple of girls from the shoe industry in
Brockton who did [this also] and you know this was really,
rea l l y f un . Rea l l y g rea t .

INTERIVEWER: How'd your family do without your wages for the summer when
you were in summer school? Was that a hardship?

NORD: Wel l , l e t me see . My o ldes t b ro ther was mar r ied bu t my younges t
brother was not, and my father was working. And I remember
my father saying he didn't think I ought to do this. Although
my family [has] never . . . These things I wanted to do [they
let me do] and I guess, with regard to the union, basically
they understood what this meant. And these things I wanted to do,
they were interested [in], ALWAYS interested in people and things.
Because you would have your friends come to the house, and people
come to the house you were working with; YW people who really
became your friends.
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f NORD:

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

And a lot of these people were happy to have someplace to
come to, like YW secretaries and people like this, happy to have
a home to go to so to speak. So your family knows these folks,
so this was something that they approved of; as a matter of
fact, they were really fond of some of these people.

Why, in regards to the summer school, did he say he thought
you shouldn't go?

I don't know. My family was still paying for their home and I
suppose that these . . . And of course in the kind of atmosphere
we grew up in,this business of home, well it's just for everybody,
it 's terr ifically important to . . . Then my father was also
a great homebody you know. He talked about . . . "Didn't I
used to keep my house warm in winter?" And we had a great
big furnace and he would manage that furnace. A
great homebody. I don't suppose that he looked much beyond....
From their point of view maybe there was success in, you know,
you had been through these difficult times of uprooting your
family. And from where they stood then, this was really an
accomplishment. How much farther do you need to go, you
know? But he said, no, he didn't think I should do it THEN.
Maybe he just hoped I'd get married and get out of his way
or something, I don' t know! ( laughter) I real ly don' t know.
And then I guess maybe always in the back of your mind you
have:how long are you going to work, things are going to
happen that you can't work anymore, you know, all those things.
Well, however, that was not the way I looked at it. So off
I went.

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

Didn't they have an alumni reunion meeting of the Bryn Mawr
summer staff? Did you go?

Yes, but you know I never went to one of those. I think they
were off in Phillie or someplace.

Or New York (?)

I cou ldn ' t They didn't have them in Pawtucket!

Did you know anyone who went there or who taught there?

I just read a lot about it. Oh, but you know, Fania Cohen,
who taught at the affiliated school in New York City,used
to have classes. And she was very highly thought of and loved.
And she was very devoted. That was her life,you know,
working with labor education. Well it was a great movement
and it was a well-directed and educationally sound movement.
Very good.
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r NORD:

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

You see we had 14 students at Vineyard Shore Labor School and
you had all shades of opinion there. Dyed-in-the-wool—if
that's the phrase to use with Communists—Communists.... At
the time—'cause you see this was a time of great Communist
activity in the country—half those students were either
Communist or sympathetic. And so there'd be great discussions.
And various sharp, and good thinking [students] because those
girls were, well, everyone there I say, with one or two ex
ceptions, were STUDENTS, you know in the true sense of the
word. They wanted to go to school. And they were in the labor
movement . . . This was the labor school.

Were you already in the union at the time that you went to the
first summer school?

Not the first summer school, not the summer schools. No, when
I went to Hudson Shore Labor School.

But why, because you weren't in the union until 1928?

1928.

1928. And the Bryn Mawr came in '20, '21?

1923 and 1924. I was 20 in 1923. I remember I wasn't 21 the
first year I went there.

Then you went before you were in the union then?

To Bryn Mawr, yes. But Vineyard Shore was the most sophisticated
and these were people who had been to the other schools.
You didn't go fresh into Vineyard Shore.

Was that one just for women also?

Right.

They're all for women?

Right.

Did things that you learned there contribute very directly to
your la te r ac t iv i t ies in the un ion , the organ iz ing ab i l i t ies . . . .

Oh, I think so. Plus it gave you a basic education that you
need id for your work in the union. We had public speaking,
which was very important. I had a difficult t ime with writ ing,
I never developed any great faci l i ty for writ ing. That always
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NORD: gave me a bad time. No doubt [the school] was help
ful. And of course,labor law. Oh we had natural science too,
that was when we had a delightful instructor. Won
derful, wonderful woman who came from Dana Hall at Wellesley.
These teachers came from the most remarkable places. Our dir
ector of Hudson Shore was dean of Bryn Mawr College, left that
position in the College to .... And I'm seeing her this week,
I'm going to Washington on Thursday. And you know,to be dean
then of Bryn Mawr College was really something. An
absolutely marvelous woman who's really given her last penny
(laughter) and she'd give her last piece of clothes too. She
just lived for ... An absolutely wonderful person,
Hilda Smith.

INTERVIEWER: And this is who you're going to see?

NORD: I will see her. The person I'm going to stay with, my friend
there, was secretary in the school, who now works in the Labor
Department in Washington. She was secretary of the school and
general jack-of-all trades. She was absolutely wonderful. She
had just graduated from Wheaton College that first year. The
economics instructor left Wheaton—she was head of the econo
mics department—left Wheaton to go to Vineyard Shore school.
And these wonderful people who were just so interested and had
such convictions about this ... they were just great.

INTERVIEWER: Do you think it would have been different if there had been men
there?

NORD: Well,when you asked the question about women, I think my
ready answer was going to be that it was difficult enough to
get, to get a school together for women let alone getting one
for men and women. But you know,there was the Brookwood Labor
School which was very successful. We went over to visit there
a couple of times and I had a friend who went there. But she
didn't work in the labor movement before she went,and she didn't
work in the labor movement after she went. Although
she was an awfully nice person and interested in commun
ity affairs. But it presents a whole new business. You have
to have more money, you have to have more buildings. It's aw
fully difficult raising money for these projects. The labor
movement wasn't willing to get involved, generally speaking.
There were some people in the labor movement who were interested.
But a t this point they had enough to do without getting
involved in this sort of thing. They'd make contributions, my
uni>n would make contributions. But I think this was the reason.
It's a matter of not being able to get an organization together
to conduct—Chat kind of affair was a pretty big thing, and pre
sented a great many other sort of problems. And maybe for a new
venture this was as far as people would want to go. Brookwood
got involved in all sorts of ideological differences and dis
cussions.
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INTERVIEWER: Does that relate to the fact that there were men and women
there?

NORD: No, I think because it was a larger school and you had more
people . . .

INTERVIEWER: I see . . .

NORD:

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

who represented more . . . points of view.
And different organizations, and coming from many different
facets of the labor movement and political l ines. It was
considered, I th ink, pret ty good. Basical ly and educat ional ly [ i t ]
was considered good.

[Referring to guideline questions ] Well, what subjects did you
like? Did you have any favorite teachers? They were all favor
ite teachers. They were absolutely marvelous. I mean you just,
the person who headed English for us at the Hudson Shore Labor
School was Helen Lockwood who was head of the English Department
at Vassar. And she was . . . Oh, you'd better do your best for
h e r.

You know we were just at Bryn Mawr, did Chris tell you that?

No.

And we thought a lot about the summer school. We were at a
women's history conference there. And we kept thinking, "Here
it is!" Because we'd never been there before.

A lot of those lovely buildings. There are probably a lot of
new buildings now.

I was thinking of back in your neighborhood, in your family . . .
were there a lot of other people involved in unions or in other
kinds of . . .

In my family?

Yes, but in your neighborhood also, Pawtucket, in your different
neighborhoods?

No, it 's isolated just as it is today. You don't know whether
the man next door to you belongs to the electrical worker's union
or the Socialist Party or he might very well have . . . you don'r
know.

Were t.iere any kind of community activities in the neighborhood
that would bring people together so that you would know someone,
there? Or was it just by chance?

No. WHiat you would do,you'd decide. For instance, if you
wanted to go to church. I was a member of St. Paul's Church
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NORD: down in Pawtucket, I could take the bus down to church. And I
didn't go to church activi t ies, except church service. I had
no association with anybody in church. Of course,
then my big social thing for years was YW things, and YW people,
where I'd either be with them at the TO or they'd be at my house,
or whatever we did. No. Today, what do [you do] with anybody
in the community? No different than that . . .

INTERVIEWER: Well what was the first political group you ever joined?

N O R D : T h e S o c i a l i s t P a r t y .

INTER VIEWER: And when was that?

N O R D : O h d e a r I d o n ' t r e m e m b e r.

INTERVIEWER: Twenties or Thirties?

NORD: It must have been when times were pretty bad, because the only
time I think . . . And then I was run out of the party because
I voted against the general strike (laughter). That was embar
rassing, that was an episode I just wouldn't, you know—actually
there was no importance except that it must have been in the Depres
sion years. And there was an old man, he used to live in Paw
tucket, I've forgotten his name. He was [a] much-quoted and admired
Socialist. He was a real Socialist of the old school and was
always talking about some such things. He was a nice old gent.

INTERVIEWER: Not Jim Reed?

NORD: No, no, there was a dentist, was he Jim Reed?

INTERVIEWER: No, he was one of the local legislators.

NORD: No, this other man—if you knew Jim Reed you would know this other
man. He was a lame man and a friendly old chap. And he would
never hesitate to speak his point of view. He was often quoted
in newspapers and I think respected in the city, in Providence.
I don't know that he had anything to do with this thing in
Pawtucket at all or whether it was just a Socialist sort of branching
out at a time when things were very bad. And there,of course,was
a ready situation and there weren't many people involved. And I
don't recall any of the meetings other than the first meeting.
And I don't remember when it was and they must have sent me down
as a member. It must have been the early
30's because I don't remember when ,'e had the general strike whether ,
There were two strikes: the big silk strike and the big general
strike. Silk strike was '33,and the general strike was '34, and they
were all over the country. And in the 1933 convention I voted
against the general strike because we had a very poor union, very,
very small membership. And there were a million-and-a-half workers
in the textile industry and it seemed sort of a stupid kind of
a thing to be voting for a general strike when we couldn't manage it.
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NORD: But the socialists. . . I don't know how I got that report. . .
but they drummed me out of the Party. That was the only politi
cal party I ever joined. I'm a Democrat
but I'm not signed up as a member. I'm committed because I vote
in the primaries. And I'm a Democrat as a result of my trade
union experience because the Republicans treated me pretty rough.
They gave me a bad time. Every place you go. Sure. Especially
in those days. Sure, even today. We won't talk about that....

[Teachers at] Vineyard Shore School....They're marvelous ....
But if you tried to figure out what your teacher was, whether
s h e w a s a [ m e m b e r o f t h e ] I W W o r t h e R e p u b l i c a n
Party,you'd have a bad time. But you'd learn about the Republican
Party and you'd learn about the IWW. And you'd learn about
the Communists and you'd learn about the Socialists and the Young
Democrats. I have a great time discussing [polit ics] with people,
and I cannot understand how any worker can be a republican. It's
beyond my understanding.

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

From your study of all the different parties in schools, did
that influence you in your decision to join the Socialist Party?

Oh no, no. My joining the Socialist Party was, well that was
after. No, no, no. I think it was a result of the economic
conditions because wages had gotten to be pretty low.

And you thought. . .

When in '33. . . I'm not sure about this, it was something like
th is . . . i t was '33, or in '34, I s tar ted to work for the union.
It seems to me that I was making about $17, $18 a week. It was
pretty low wages.

Did you think the Socialist Party would be the most effective?

I don't . . . No. It was just that my union was stil l
pretty poor, had absolutely nothing, nothing. And here were
people who seemed to understand exactly what
the si tuat ion was. Of course, i t was al l theory. The
Communists, as far as I'm concerned,most of them were Communists
in theory rather than a decision based on any actual experience
. . .which, from my point of view is not good. I think you have to
be able to. . . Well you see as a result of . . . my general
attitude and approach, and ... my experience with my union in
negotiating—you've got to know what you're talkin' about. You've
just got to be able to—you can't make far-out statements and get
away with it. You just better be able to back up what you've said.
so that you have to have an intellectual interest,but in addition to

And
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NORD: tha t , you ' ve go t t o know wha t you ' re t a l k i ng abou t .
You've got to-—now this is what negotiating and organizing and
unionism is all about:— you've got to understand.
You're leading workers and if you want a ten-cent an hour wage
increase, you better not say to them you're going to get it or you're
goin' after it, unless you know pretty well that
you can get it. And so that takes some doing. That takes some
understanding. That takes some study. And you've got to, you
just can't shoot off your mouth. You learn that pretty quick.
The workers in the union have a saying: "Any damn fool can call
a strike but it takes a good person to settle it."

INTERVIEWER: We talked some on the first tape about your learning how to
weave, but I just want to ask you a couple questions about your
first earning money. You said tonight that you earned money
doing lunch pails?

N O R D : Tw e n t y - fi v e c e n t s a w e e k , I t h i n k .

INTERVIEWER: Anything else that you did to earn money?

N O R D : Yo u m e a n . . . b e f o r e ?

INTERVIEWER: . . . Before you went to the mill? Did you get to keep those twenty-
five cents ... or did you give them to your mother?

N O R D : O h , i t w a s m i n e , s u r e k e p t i t .

INTERVIEWER: And what about your first wages that you earned in the mill?

NORD: Oh, i t would always go to your family, you know, this was the
working class family. I don't know what stage you begin to
not turn over your whole pay . . .

INTERVIEWER: That's what I was going to ask you.

N O R D : I d o n ' t r e m e m b e r t h a t . . .

INTERVIEWER: When you were 20?

N O R D : I w o u l d s a y, p e r h a p s . . . I d o n ' t k n o w. B u t I d o n ' t r e m e m b e r
ever having any problem about money for things. Like [for the]
YW, the things I needed, and the things I wanted and conferences
and going away. Money was no , . . problem.

INTERVIEWER: When you got your car, how did you get your car?

NORD: There was a period when earnings were pretty good, wages were pretty
good, my brothers . . . first, my older brother had a car. It
was a second-hand car. And he was always off with his girlfriend
and didn't leave anything for the family, and there was no other
car. Then my younger brother got a Ford . . . what do you call
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NORD:

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

INTERVIEWER:

NORD:

them . . . Tin Lizzie. And that was a second-hand car. And we
had more fun with that car. But, again, it was his car.
But we had learned this business of having a car; what great
fun it was, you know? Oh, we just had so much fun in that
l i tt le old car! There were groups of us, l ike his fr iends and
my one or two friends, and we would really have fun—when
they felt like taking us along. We got along very well. We had
a very nice time. I remember that . . . very pleasant memories
about i t . But then, of course, they'd get gir l fr iends and then
there's just no time for you and the family, nothing. So,
between my mother and father and I,we managed to buy a Buick.
Oh, that was something!! And, that was just beautiful.

When was that?

It must have been several years before I went to Vineyard Shore,
because I had the Buick to take to Vineyard Shore. I rode it
t h e r e . I h a d t o h a v e a w a y t o g e t t h e r e a n d h o m e ,
and my father didn't drive, so they allowed me to take the
Buick. And then I rode several girls over to the school, and
several of them back when we were coming home at Christmas Eve,
the Holidays, so this was very nice.

Did your mother drive?

No!

So, you would take your parents around . . .

Yes.

Who taught you to drive?

My younger brother taught me to drive. Oh yes, to this day I
remember, "Watch that woman," he said, "going up the hill. Watch
her, watch her, she's a stupid woman." Sure enough. Often
today, even, oh, out on a hill like Division Street in Pawtucket,
"Watch that woman." ( laughter) I t would never fa i l . Every
woman would , you know, back down a l i t t le b i t before
she went forward on a hill. So, I don't back down,
(laughter) on Division Street ( laughter) .

Well do you remember anything else that you saved up for, you
know, any special purchases?

Yes, I saved up to go to Summer School I guess. At Vineyard
Shore, I paid tuition at Vineyard Shore. I don't remember about
summer school ... I guess I paid some tuition there. I saved
up once to go to England with a cousin. A dear cousin came to
this country and then she got a job, and then her sister came
and she got a job. And they saved up money and they settled in a
lovely tenement for her mother and the other sister to come to
America. And so then everyone decided that Annie deserved to go
back to the old country and see her friends. So we started to
save up and I got up to $100'. I don't remember what year this was.
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NRA, JSee National Industrial Recovery Act

Perkins, Frances, 27
See Also Womens Trade Union League

Peterson, Esther, 37

Political parties, See Communist Party; Democratic Party; Republican Party;
Socia l is t Par ty

Republican Party, 45

Smith, Hilda, 26, 42

Social ist Party, 44-45

Sullivan, Anna, 35

Unions
England, 14
family attitudes toward involvement, 39
See Also United Texti le Workers Union

United Textile Workers Union
barriers to women, 36
camaraderie in, 37-39
family attitude toward involvement in, 39
general, 30-31, 36-38, 45-46
negotiat ing, 32
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organizing for, 32-34
strikes, 25, 44
Virginia, 32-34
wages, 45
women active in, 34-35, 37

Vineyard Shore Labor School, 26, 39, 41-42, 45, 47

Weaving,
attitude toward, 30-31
tra in ing in , 12
mother and, 10, 12

Womens Trade Union League
Bryn Mawr College and, 27
Frances Perkins, 27
ILGWU and, 27

Work
attitudes toward, 2, 29-31
benefits, 10
early experience, 7-8
o ffice /sec re ta r ies , 25
working class women and, 9-10

YWCA, 25


